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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FERE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”)
of China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”), |
am pleased to present the final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022.

ANNUAL RESULTS

Since early 2020, the outbreak of the coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) has created significant disruption and uncertainty
to the business operations and livelihood of people throughout
the world. The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in government
authorities implementing various precaution measures, including
travel restrictions, quarantines, lock-down orders, business limitations
and shutdowns. These measures have negatively impacted business
activities generally, and have significantly contributed to deteriorating
macroeconomic conditions. The COVID-19 pandemic has had a
negative impact on our businesses during the financial year ended 31
December 2022.

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately HK$2,715,000 as compared with approximately
HK$3,157,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$227,735,000 as
compared with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$581,677,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021. The increase in loss for the year ended 31 December 2022
was primarily due to (i) the loss arising on change in fair value of
investment properties amounting to approximately HK$3,393,000
(2021: approximately HK$24,944,000); (i) the impairment loss
recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$Nil (2021: HK$113,999,000); (iii) the impairment
loss recognised in respect of financial assets under expected
credit losses model amounting to approximately HK$177,609,000
(2021: HK$192,300,000); and (iv) the share of losses of associates
amounting to approximately HK$766,000 (2021: 169,558,000).
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Chairman’s Statement
EFEHE

PROSPECTS

Causing disruptions to the market and society, the COVID-19
outbreak around the world has also inevitably posed threats to the
PRC as well as the global economy. The Group has thus confronted
great challenges over the past years in both internal and external
manners. Owing to the sluggish economic environment caused
by the lingering COVID-19 pandemic, the real estate market in the
PRC has been encompassed with an uncertain atmosphere. The
Group therefore adopted a more conservative view and strategy in
the property development and investment business. For the natural
gas business, the Group will continue to identify and explore thriving
business opportunities not only in the PRC but also in other countries
across the globe so as to further develop the business in this sector
in the foreseeable future.

LUYi
Chairman

5 January 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF WD

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
PROPERTIES INVESTMENT

KIEEE YR AR 2 T (Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company
Limited*)

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua
Logistics”) is principally engaged in the business of property
rentals and operation of storage units. Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics
owns a property with a land use area of 11,331.30 square metres,
comprising of one building with one storey of 704.16 square metres
and another building with four storeys of 10,807.91 square metres at
Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Zone, Tianjin City,
the PRC. The property is located in the Tianjin Harbour, which is one
of the main transportation hubs of the PRC. This project provides a
steady rental income stream to the Group.

KZE HRE H %A R A A (Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power
Equipment Co. Ltd.*)

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd. (“Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan”) is principally engaged in the business of property rentals
and property development. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is the legal owner of
the land use right for a parcel of land with an area of approximately
29,012.72 square metres located at Tianjin Economic and
Technological Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The land
is now for industrial use and having two 4-storey buildings (namely
Block Nos. 3 and 4) with a total gross floor area of 18,333 square
metres under construction. Whilst the construction work for the other
2 buildings (namely Block Nos. 1 and 2) with a total gross floor area
of 46,445 square metres was yet to commence.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI WwE D AT

OUTLOOK

Causing disruptions to the market and society, the COVID-19
outbreak around the world has also inevitably posed threats to the
PRC as well as the global economy. The Group has thus confronted
great challenges over the past years in both internal and external
manners. Owing to the sluggish economic environment caused
by the lingering COVID-19 pandemic, the real estate market in the
PRC has been encompassed with an uncertain atmosphere. The
Group therefore adopted a more conservative view and strategy in
the property development and investment business. For the natural
gas business, the Group will continue to identify and explore thriving
business opportunities not only in the PRC but also in other countries
across the globe so as to further develop the business in this sector
in the foreseeable future.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of approximately 14
staff in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates employees
based on their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practices so as to retain the competent and talented employees.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$2,715,000, as compared with
approximately HK$3,157,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021. The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$227,735,000 as
compared with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$581,677,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021. The increase in loss for the year ended 31 December 2022
was primarily due to (i) the loss arising on change in fair value of
investment properties amounting to approximately HK$3,393,000
(2021: approximately HK$24,944,000); (ii) the impairment loss
recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$Nil (2021: HK$113,999,000); (iii) the impairment
loss recognised in respect of financial assets under expected
credit losses model amounting to approximately HK$177,609,000
(2021: HK$192,300,000); and (iv) the share of losses of associates
amounting to HK$766,000 (2021: HK$169,558,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEERWE D AT

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debt (which included
borrowings), cash and bank balances, and equity attributable

to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

reserves of the Group.

CAPITAL REORGANISATION

In extraordinary general meeting of the Company convened on 24
January 2022 (the “EGM"), the resolutions approving the capital
reorganisation involving the share consolidation, the capital reduction

and the share sub-division (the “Capital Reorganisation”) was duly

passed by way of poll. The Capital Reorganisation involves:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Share Consolidation (the “Share Consolidation”)

Every ten (10) issued and unissued Shares of par value
of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company
be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share of par
value of HK$0.5 each in the share capital of the Company
(“Consolidated Shares”).

Capital Reduction (the “Capital Reduction”)

the Capital Reduction whereby the par value of each issued
Consolidated Share will be reduced from HK$0.50 to HK$0.01
by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$0.49 on
each issued Consolidated Share.

Share Sub-Division (the “Share Sub-Division”)

the Share Sub-division whereby immediately following the
Capital Reduction, each of the authorised but unissued
Consolidated Shares with par value of HK$0.50 each be sub-
divided into fifty (50) ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company (the “Adjusted
Shares”).

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI WwE D AT

The Share Consolidation became effective after the passing of the
resolution in connection with the Share Consolidation as an ordinary
resolution of the Company at the EGM. The Capital Reduction and the
Share Sub-Division shall become effective after (i) the Grand Court of
the Cayman Islands made an order confirming the Capital Reduction;
(ii) registration by the Registrar of Companies of the Cayman Islands
of a copy of the order of the Court confirming the Capital Reduction
and the minute approved by the Court containing the particulars
required under the Companies Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands in respect of the Capital Reduction; and (iii) the Listing
Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) granting approval for the listing of, and permission to
deal in, the Adjusted Shares. As at the date of this report, the Capital
Reduction and Share Sub-division have not been effective.

Details of the Capital Reorganisation aforementioned are set out in
(i) the announcement of the Company dated 16 December 2021 in
relation to, among other things, the Capital Reorganisation; (ii) the
circular of the Company dated 30 December 2022 in relation to the
EGM; and (iii) the announcement of the Company dated 24 January
2022 in relation to, among other things, the poll results of the EGM.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to medium
term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s borrowings when
appropriate. At 31 December 2022, the underlying current ratio,
defined as current assets over current liabilities, was approximately
0.12 (2021: 0.55). At 31 December 2022, the underlying gearing
ratio, defined as the total borrowings over total deficit (including non-
controlling interests), was approximately (30%) (2021: (81%)) while
the current liabilities to the total assets ratio was approximately 573%
(2021: 159%).

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s equity attributable to owners
of the Company was deficit approximately HK$(315,683,000) an
increase of approximately 290% over last year end which was
deficit of approximately HK$(80,917,000). The net current liabilities
at 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$402,555,000 (2021:
HK$173,265,000) while cash and bank balances at 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$2,347,000 (2021: HK$1,862,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEERWE D AT

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain properties of a subsidiary were pledged in favour of a PRC
trust company to secure the payment obligation of an independent
third party in the sum of approximately HK$90,248,000 (equivalent to
RMB80,000,000) granted by the PRC trust company in favour of the
independent third party. As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding
loan amount of the independent third party was approximately
HK$90,248,000 (equivalent to RMB80,000,000) and the carrying
amount of the pledged properties was approximately HK$Nil (31
December 2021: HK$Nil).

For details, please refer to Note 36 of the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group had no other material contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2022, property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$Nil (2021: HK$Nil) was pledged as securities for
payment obligation of an independent third party.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong Dollar,
Renminbi and United Stated Dollar. The Group had no material foreign
exchange exposure risks during the year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERME

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to
the principles of corporate governance and to maximise shareholders’
value. These principles and objectives enhance the transparency,
accountability and independence of the Company and its ability to
attract investment and protect rights of shareholders. The Company
continues to review the effectiveness of corporate structure so as to
improve its corporate governance practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022, except for the following deviations:

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code requires that the company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its directors. The Company did not arrange such insurance
cover during the period as Directors considered that the risk of
material legal claims against Directors is minimal. Nevertheless, the
Board will review this arrangement from time to time in light of the
prevailing circumstances and arrange for appropriate insurance
coverage when necessary.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. XU Xiao Jun,
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, had also been appointed
as the Chairman of the Company since 31 July 2017. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and is adequately ensured by current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.
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Code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code stipulates that the Company
should have an internal audit function. The Group does not have an
internal audit function as the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Company and is currently of
the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit
function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of
the Group’s business. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Following a
specific enquiry made by the Company on each of the Directors, all
Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code and the Own Code of
Conduct since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of the
Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and is accountable for the manner in which the
affairs of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. The
Directors are collectively responsible for the success of the Company.
The Board, as at 31 December 2022, comprised:

(a) three executive Directors, namely Mr. XU Xiao Jun (Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer), Mr. YE De Chao and Mr. LU Yi;
and

(b) three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. HE Jin
Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms. CHEN Yang and one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and
related financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant B.2.3 of Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code, if an
independent non-executive director serves more than 9 years, his
further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders. Mr. HE Jin Geng and Mr. YU Hong Gao
have served as independent non-executive Directors for more than 9
years and shall retire at the AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.
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The Company considers that the Board has a range of the necessary
skills and experiences for discharging their duties. All Directors have
been kept informed of major changes on a timely basis that may
affect the Company’s business.

It is provided in the Company’s articles of association that all the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the annual general meetings of the Company and are
eligible for re-appointment.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board, in particular, (i) independent
non-executive Directors are encouraged to actively participate in
the Board meetings; (ii) the number of independent non-executive
Directors is in compliance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules; and (iii) independent professional advice are obtained at the
Company’s expense to ensure that the independent non-executive
Directors will have access to accurate and relevant professional views
in the performance of their responsibilities. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanisms on an
annual basis.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives of the
Company, make decisions on strategic plans and budgets, monitor
the performance of the Senior Management, determine and review
the strategy of the Company, oversee the Company's compliance
with statutory and regulatory requirement and to ensure that there is a
sound system of internal control and risk management with a goal of
protecting the interests of all shareholders.

Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular and
non-regular board meetings were given to all of the Directors so
that full attendance could be attained and timely information was
provided so that informed decisions could be made. The Board
conducts meeting on a regular and ad hoc basis, as required by
business needs. Minutes of the board meetings should be kept by
the company secretary of the Company with copies circulating to all
Directors for information and records.

ARFRA EEREREHEBSELE
IEERERAETRE I BE - 2RES
HRBENG S ETRYEAATAES Y
EXED-

ARREBERAAUREMBEETHEAE
LEZFEARARRBFAE LWER
F-REREERNEG LEREE-

BYERE

EXECRYUK BRANEFSREMHBL
BRARER LHEE()SEBBILIERTES
BEB2EEFEEER: (NVELFRTEEH
BRALMRANKTE: RINBLEXE
RARARAEER BREIFNTES
RETBRESSENESERRBERNE
XBR -EFelEF s L EBINER
Ke PR o

EXEE=2

E=xeTMETERE EAERTEARAZA
B RRBUFERAEELRE B8RS
REEE 2 RE - B RBRANRE]Z RS
ERARBETEEMREEREZB/R A
RERAEEA GRS 2 A EZERER
EERG UWREZERRER-

PREFCHEHIIEHEETSSRE
BRAZBHARER UBRSESFHEL
FZEeaz L aEBEEZERRENNE
MATEEAMBEAE - EFSEHBTEER
EEXRBTERBIREGH RAIWERE
BFEFE QR YREZFERLE
BIATHEESE2HRRHZA-

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER 13



14

Corporate Governance Report

AN\ Al b /s
JJ:%E/H

HE

The Board held totally two board meetings during the financial year

and the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of Board Meetings (1 January 2022 -

31 December 2022)

RAFBFERN EFEHBT2REFE

&y 2

S MEMNESEZHELENT

EEgeEcHERR (S —8—
BEZZ-_—_+=-HA=+—8)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HE=E
Number of board meetings EEEER LY 2
Directors EE
Executive Directors HITEFE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and WNME (FEFITHABER)

Chief Executive Officer) 2/2 100%
YE De Chao E iz 2/2 100%
LU Yi & 17 22 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIHHITEE
HE Jin Geng fa] & Bk 2/2 100%
YU Hong Gao B4 = 2/2 100%
CHEN Yang BR ¥ 2/2 100%
All the Directors are also entitled to have access to timely information BEETAERNERENEM BB R

such as monthly updates in relation to our businesses and have

separate and independent access to senior management of the

Company.

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the Board should
meet regularly and board meeting should be held at least four times

a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year, due to the

delay in publication of financial results and suspension of trading in

share of the Company, the Board has not held four board meetings.

During the year, the Directors were provided with relevant information

of the Company regarding the operation and financial performance

of the Group. By circulation of written materials to the Directors, the

Board was informed throughout the year, sufficient measures had

been taken to ensure that there was efficient communication among

the Directors. The Board will endeavour to comply with the Code

provision C.5.1 going forward.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed at least three independent non-executive
directors and one of whom must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. As at 31 December 2022, the independent non-executive
Directors (the “INEDs”) represented at least one-third of the Board in
compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is aware of other commitments of the INEDs and is
satisfied that these do not conflict with their duties as the Directors
of the Company. The Company has received from each of the INEDs
an annual confirmation of his independence as required under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company
considers that each of the INEDs is independent.

Paragraph C.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the executive Directors and non-executive Directors
present. Although the chairman did not hold a meeting with the INED,
excluding the executive Directors and non-executive Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2022, he delegated the company
secretary to gather any concerns and/or questions that the INED
might have and report to him for setting up follow-up meetings,
whenever necessary, in due course.

The terms and conditions of appointing the INEDs are available for
inspection at the Company’s registered office.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The policy relating to the board diversity of the Group (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board in order to ensure the members of the Board possesses a
balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
to promote effectiveness of decision-making and further, enhance the
Company’s corporate governance and the quality of its performance.
In determining an optimum composition of the Board and its
committees, the Company will consider all aspects of diversity,
and take into account the Company’s business model and specific
needs from time to time. The selection of candidates is based on a
range of measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, qualification, skills, knowledge and other factors. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The Board has a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including but
not limited to business management, finance, audit, investment, civil
engineering and macroeconomic adjustment and social development.
They obtained degrees in various majors including business
administration, accounting, architecture and civil engineering,
finance and sociology. The Board Diversity Policy also sets out the
Board’s commitment to gender diversity and other diversity aspects,
with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity on the Board. The
Company currently has one female Director, and the Board will take
opportunities to increase the proportion of female members over
time as and when selecting and making recommendation on suitable
candidates as Directors.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is of the view that the Board has achieved the
objectives of the Board Diversity Policy and shall review the Board
Diversity Policy and measurable objectives at least annually, and as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any or necessary amendments on the Board Diversity
Policy and propose the amendments to the Board for approval.

The Group also adhered to the diversity concept, including but not
limited to the gender perspective, in recruitment of employees. For
the financial year, the Group had 14 employees, of which 50% were
female. The Company is of the view that the current composition of
employees has achieved gender diversity.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction
package covering the Group’s business and the statutory regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory
requirements.
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Code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code requires that all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During the
year under review, all Directors participated in continuous professional
development programmes and provided a record of training they
received to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2022 is set out below.

CESTATAKRIXCIARE MAEESY
ELESEEXER FRUEMEMNI R

e UERAEEEEAGEEEMARYA
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ER FMEBEFHC2BBEEXERRARE
W RA R AR H R F PR X ARS8k o
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Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BESERRERRREER
Executive Directors HiTEE
XU Xiao Jun wANME B
YE De Chao el B
LU Yi E R B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIHHITEE
HE Jin Geng ] & BX B
YU Hong Gao AR B
CHEN Yang PR F B

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and updates relating to
the latest development of the Listing Rules, other applicable regulatory
requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.
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Since 31 July 2017, Mr. XU Xiao Jun, the chief executive officer of
the Company, was also appointed as the chairman of the Company.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The roles and
responsibilities of the chairman and chief executive officer have
been set out in writing, and have been approved and adopted by the
Board. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and high
calibre individuals with sufficient number thereof being INEDs.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board, headed by the chairman of the Company, reserves for
its decision all major matters of the Company, including: approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters. The Board regularly reviews and ensures that
corporate governance principles are in place and at good standard.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of no less
compliance requirements than those set out in the CG Code of the
Listing Rules, namely, remuneration committee, nomination committee,
audit committee and corporate governance committee of the
Company. To further reinforce independence, these four committees
are structured to include a majority of independent non-executive
Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2022, the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “‘Remuneration Committee”’) was chaired by Mr.
YU Hong Gao, an independent non-executive Director with other
committee members comprising two other INEDs, namely Mr.
HE Jin Geng and Ms. CHEN Yang and one executive Director,
namely Mr. XU Xiao Jun. The Remuneration Committee comprises
a majority of INEDs that brings an independent and objective view
to the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management of the Company to provide a significant degree of
protection to the shareholders. No director involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior management
of the Company, including discretionary bonus, which were based
on individual performance, skill and knowledge, involvement in the
Group’s affairs and performance and profitability of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee determines the specific remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments; and makes recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The responsibilities of
the Remuneration Committee are described in the terms of reference
adopted. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are shown on
pages 169 to 171 of this annual report. During the financial year, no
Remuneration Committee meeting was held.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2022, the members of the nomination committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) included three
INEDs, namely Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms. CHEN
Yang with Mr. XU Xiao Jun, an executive Director, as the Committee
Chairman.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board for its approval on the appointment of
the Directors, evaluation of board composition and the management
of board succession with reference to various aspects as well as
factors concerning board diversity as set out in the Company’s board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship including the
consideration of referrals and engagement of external recruitment
professionals when necessary. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the person responsible for human
resources and the secretary of the Nomination Committee, should
be primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Nomination Committee meeting. Potential candidates are
then considered at the Nomination Committee meetings based on
their experience, professional qualifications, independence and
their expected remuneration packages to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve board diversity, where appropriate, before
making recommendation to the Board. During the financial year, no
Nomination Committee meeting was held.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the ‘“Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for
Directors. The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to
enable the Nomination Committee to nominate a Director to the
Board.

SELECTION CRITERIA

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following selection
criteria and such other factors that it may consider appropriate for a
position on the Board:

a) Attributes Complementary to the Board: The candidate
should possess attributes that complement and expand the skKill
set, experience and expertise of the Board as a whole, having
regard to the current structure, size, diversity profile and skills
matrix of the Board and the needs of the Board.

b) Business Experience & Board Expertise and Skills: The
candidate should have the ability to exercise sound business
judgment and also possess proven achievement and
experience in directorship including effective oversight of and
guidance to management.

c) Commitment: The candidate should have sufficient time for the
proper discharge of the duties of a Director, including devoting
adequate time for the preparation and participation in meetings,
training and other Board or Company associated activities.

d)  Motivation: The candidate should be self-motivated and have a
strong interest in the Company’s businesses.

e) Integrity: The candidate should be a person of integrity,
honesty, good repute and high professional standing

f) Independence: INED candidates must satisfy the independence
requirements under the Listing Rules. The INED candidate shall
be independent in character and judgement and be able to
represent and act in the best interests of all shareholders of the
Company.
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES
Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

The Nomination Committee, from time to time, identifies, assesses,
selects and nominates suitable director candidates to the Board
for it to consider for appointment. In the determination of the
suitability of a candidate, the Nomination Committee considers the
potential contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, expertise, independence, age,
culture, ethnicity and gender diversity, and in particular considers
whether and how the candidate’s attributes may be complementary
to the Board as a whole, and the candidate’s commitment, motivation,
integrity and such other factors that it may consider appropriate for a
position on the Board. The Board takes into consideration the benefits
of a diversified Board when selecting Board candidates and will
consider and approve the appointment, if appropriate, based on the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) reviews
the Company’s financial reports, internal controls and corporate
governance issues, appointment of external auditors and review their
independency and makes relevant recommendations to the Board.
The written terms of reference which describes the authority and
duties of the Audit Committee has been prepared and adopted with
reference to “A Guide for The Formation of An Audit Committee” and
“A Guide for Effective Audit Committee” published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and amended in accordance
with the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2022, all the committee members were INEDs
and one of whom possesses appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting or related financial management expertise. The chairman
of the Audit Committee, Mr. HE Jin Geng, is a qualified accountant
and has the relevant financial experience. Other members were Mr.
YU Hong Gao and Ms. CHEN Yang. None of the Audit Committee
members were members of the former or existing auditors of the
Company.
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The Audit Committee held one meeting during the financial year and
the attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the interim and annual reports
of the Group and discussed with the external auditors on auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters.

ERZBERNAMBFEARTT —RE
F o BERKEZHFERHEEN T &L
ERZRECCBEHNAREMRRZETR
AIRERARAEE 2 BRERFR A
BN AZ AP A B A EDER AR M TS R
HEHe

Attendance Record of Audit Committee Meetings (1 January 2022 EBXZESEBE2HERCR (ZE-_F—
- 31 December 2022) A—BZE=-Z--f+=-H=+—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HER
Number of Audit Committee meetings EREEEEBNK 1
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors BN TESE
HE Jin Geng (Chairman) DERINET D, 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao = 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang P ¥ 1/1 100%
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TEEREESR

As at 31 December 2022, the corporate governance committee of the
Company (the “Corporate Governance Committee”) consisted of
four members, namely Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms.
CHEN Yang, all being INEDs and Mr. XU Xiao Jun, being an executive
Director. Mr. XU Xiao Jun was the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, including
but not limited to, developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of the Directors
and senior management of the Company, reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, developing, reviewing and monitoring the
code of conduct applicable to the employees and the Directors of
the Company, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG

Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee should be
primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Corporate Governance Committee meeting and ensure that
all members of the Corporate Governance Committee should have
sufficient information in a timely manner to enable effective discussion
at the Corporate Governance Committee meeting. The chairman
should also brief all members on issues arising at each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. During the financial year, no
Corporate Governance Committee meeting was held.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the audit fees and non-
audit fees paid/payable to the external auditors of the Group were as

EE;(E\EEEET_L&

Tﬁt/&tmfﬁ% REEEEHRNEARERE

E@)ﬁi%&ﬁfuﬁlﬂiﬁ’]

&Rt LA@EJL%%xu?E@@.:&J:LTTE

Milime EFIMERAAKEGRE R

ERZESERREINEE NAVREE
NI EBITERECEZEGRSR

o B B 5 B

Bz -+ -_A=+—HItFE B
I~/ TER AR E IR AZ SRR 2 X B B & Ik

follows: BEZERNT:
2022 2021
—=—-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T
Audit services ER
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited Bt EBMERA - 820,000
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited Ep(FB)E quEﬂi$7_f%}5ﬁ
BRAT 950,000 950,000
Non-audit services EE R Nil £ Nil 4
DIVIDEND POLICY R BB R
The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) AR TIFHIRER 2 MM —EREHE ([]

on payment of dividends. Provided that the Group has distributable
profits and without affecting the operations of the Group, the Company
may consider to declare and pay dividends to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”). In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, included but not limited to: (i) the general financial
condition of the Group; (i) the expected working capital requirements
and debt level of the Group; (iii) the actual and future operations
and liquidity position; (iv) the expectations of the Shareholders and
investors and industry practices; (v) any restrictions on payment
of dividends that may be imposed by the Group'’s lenders; (vi) the
general market conditions; and (vii) any other factors that the Board
deems appropriate.
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The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The
Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed by the Board from time to
time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed
or declared in any particular amount for any specific period.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors aim to present the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in accordance with the statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors acknowledge their
responsibilities to ensure the publication of consolidated financial
statements of the Group in a timely manner.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee
and audited by Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited being the external
auditors.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance and prospects. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies, have
made prudent and reasonable judgments, and have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.
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GOING CONCERN AND LIQUIDITIES

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance and prospects. The Directors are aware of the reported
loss attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$227,735,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of
that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$402,555,000, in which interest-bearing borrowing
and the respective interest payable and redemption premium
amounted to approximately HK$115,000,000 and HK$271,297,000
respectively, while its cash and cash equivalents only amounted
to approximately HK$2,347,000. In additions, due to an array of
epidemic prevention measures including lockdown measures
implemented by the PRC government due to the COVID-19 and the
downturn of the property market in the PRC in 2022, the business
operation of the Group was inevitably affected. These conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

MANAGEMENT’S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE’S
VIEWS ON THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REPORT

The Directors have given careful consideration to future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources. The Directors
have taken and are taking certain measures to manage its liquidity
needs and to improve its financial position which include but are not
limited to:

(i) Developing existing business

The Group’s existing business is operating as usual and the
Company is using its best endeavours to improve the Group'’s
operating results and cash flow by focusing on the existing
business of the Group and will expand the existing business
internationally.

(ii) Exploring business opportunities

In addition to development of the existing business, the
Company will also explore different business opportunities
in order to increase cash inflow of the Group to improve the
financial position of the Company.
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(iii) Repaying outstanding liabilities and collecting account
receivables

The Company is actively negotiating with relevant parties and
will use its best endeavor to repay the outstanding liabilities.
Additionally, the Company is actively collecting its account
receivables from relevant parties to improve the financial
position of the Group.

(ivl Enforcing cost-saving measures

The Company will use its best endeavours to minimise its
expenses including but not limited to administrative expenses
as well as operating costs.

(v) Loan capitalisation

The Company is in negotiation with the creditor(s) of the Group
in relation to potential capitalisation of the debt. It will not only
reduce the debt but will also increase the shareholder base of
the Company.

(vi) Potential fund-raising activities

The Group is actively seeking opportunities for fund-raising such
as rights issue, placing of new Shares, issue of new Shares
and/or convertible bonds, depending on the prevailing market
conditions and the development of the Group’s businesses.

Provided that the above measures are successfully implemented
and improve the financial position of the Group, the Directors believe
that the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financial needs. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the view of and assessment made
by the management and based on the detailed plans of the Directors
in addressing the going concern and liquidity issue of the Group, the
Audit Committee agreed with the management’s position concerning
the going concern and liquidity issue.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group established
and maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board has reviewed the following annually: (a) the changes,
since the last annual review, in the nature and extent of significant
risks (including ESG risks), and the Company's ability to respond
to changes in its business and the external environment; (b) the
scope and quality of the management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks (including ESG risks) and of the internal control systems and
the work of internal audit; (c) the extent and frequency of report
by the management of monitoring results to the Board (or board
committee(s)) which enables it to assess control of the Group and
the effectiveness of risk management; (d) significant control failings
or weaknesses that have been identified during the period. Also,
the extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or
contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in the future
have, a material impact on the company’s financial performance or
condition; and (e) the effectiveness of the processes for financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system on a on-going basis, and would review
the effectiveness annually to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder's interest. The main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are to
provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as
well as reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks
across business operations.
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The Group has established risk management procedures to identify,
evaluate and manage all the significant risks associated with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review on
any significant change of the business environment and establish
procedures to respond to the risks resulted from significant change
of business environment. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with the business
of the Group by considering both internal and external factors and
events which include political, economic, technology, environmental,
social and staff. Each of the risks has been assessed and prioritised
based on their relevant impact and occurrence opportunity. The
relevant risk management strategy would be applied to each type of
risks according to the assessment results. Type of risk management
strategy has been listed as follow:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to
avoid the risk;

- Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or
allocate to different location or product or market; and

- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the Group
and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk
management and internal control system are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

In addition, the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies
in the design and implementation of internal controls are identified
and recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant
internal control deficiencies are reported to the Board on a timely
basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.
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The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the risk management and internal control system and procedures
of the Group, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
were reasonably effective and adequate.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

For the purpose of handling and disseminating inside information
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”) (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Group has aroused the awareness to preserve confidentiality of
inside information within the Group and send blackout period and
securities dealing restrictions notification to the relevant directors
and employees on a regular basis as needed, strictly comply with
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the

Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted a Whistleblowing Policy. It provides employees and the
relevant third parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers and
suppliers) with guidance and reporting channels to raise concerns,
in confidence and anonymity, with the audit committee (or any
designated committee comprising a majority of independent non-
executive directors) about possible improprieties in any matter
related to the Company. All reported matters will be investigated
independently and, in the meantime, all information received from a
whistleblower and its identity will be kept confidential. The Board and
the Audit Committee will regularly review the Whistleblowing Policy
and mechanism to improve its effectiveness.

ANTI-BRIBERY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted an Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy. It outlines
guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all applicable
laws and regulations in relation to anti-corruption and anti-bribery,
the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to help the Group
defend against corrupt practices and to report any reasonably
suspected ‘case of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof, to
the ' management or through-an appropriate reporting channel. The
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Group would not tolerate any form of bribery and corruption among
all employees and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on
behalf of the Group, and in its business dealing with third parties.

The Board and the Audit Committee will review the Anti-Bribery
and Anti-Corruption Policy and mechanism periodically to ensure
its effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of
bribery and corruption.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2022, the company secretary of the Company,
Mr. TSUI Siu Hung Raymond, fulfill the requirement under Rules 3.28
and 3.29 of the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December
2022, Mr. TSUI Siu Hung Raymond has duly complied with the
relevant professional training requirement and have taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update his skills and
knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

In accordance with Article 57 of the articles of association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
the written requisition of any 2 or more members holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition in aggregate not less than 10 per
cent of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date
of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office. If
the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
such requisition proceed duly to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the
failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed
to them by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD ANY
SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES OR PROPOSALS
TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or proposals to the
Board/Company Secretary by email: hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com,
or by mail to Room 705A, 7/F., New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science
Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
corporate transparency and communications with the shareholders,
potential investors and investment community mainly through
publication of announcements or circulars. The senior management
of the Company responsible for investor relations holds meetings with
press reporters and potential strategic investors to keep them abreast
of the Company’s development, if necessary.

During the year under review, there were no changes in the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).
An up to date version of the Articles of Association is available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’'s website. The
shareholders may refer to the Articles of Association for further details
of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders so that they can exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed basis. Besides distribution of financial reports, the
Company has a corporate website to foster effective communications
with the shareholders. It is maintained to disseminate Company’s
announcements and presentations, shareholders’ information and
other relevant financial and non-financial information.
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Another dialogue with shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
their views with the Board. The Company shall provide shareholders
with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

The Company will maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant
information on the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to
relevant regulatory requirements. The Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the investor communication
policy and considered it to be effective. Due to the delay in publication
of the audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the annual general meeting will be held in 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGNEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Yi (“Mr. Lu”), chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company, aged 45, has been appointed as an executive Director
on 12 August 2021. Mr. Lu has taken up the role as the chairman
and chief executive officer of the Company effective form 1 August
2023. Mr. Lu graduated from Hubei University of Technology. Mr. Lu
has over 20 years of rich experience in entrepreneurship, mainly in
industries such as electronic product manufacturing, mainland China
and overseas trade, mineral resources industry (exploration and
mining, processing, sales and trade entire industry chain), etc. Mr. Lu
founded Glory Grace Group Co., Limited (“Glory Grace”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong in 2013. Glory Grace mainly engaged
in sales of Petrochemical, trade of electronic parts, optical fiber and
photovoltaic products, engineering equipment, automobile production
and sales, supply of bulk commodities and exploitation and financing
of natural resource industries.

Mr. YE De Chao (“Mr. Ye”), aged 63, joined the Group as an
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company on
17 January 2012. Mr. Ye was appointed as the vice chairman of the
Company since 1 August 2012 and was then redesignated as the
acting chairman of the Company on 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has
been appointed as the chairman of the company on 28 February
2013. Mr. Ye has resigned as the chief executive officer of the
Company but continued to serve as the chairman of the company
effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Ye has resigned as the Chairman of
the Company but continued to serve as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 31 July 2017. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of
R EMERE 2GR QA (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company
Limited*) which is an associated company of the Company, and the
chairman of R EFREHERZEBR AT (Nanjing Wanlilai Real
Estate Development Company Limited*). Mr. Ye has over 20 years of
experiences in business operation and management. Mr. Ye was an
electric engineer of F#E AR EMBEHER LEEEBERERKS B
T TR (Electric Technology Department, Nanjing Railway Sub-
administration, Shanghai Railway Bureau, The Ministry of Railways of
The People’s Republic of China*). He obtained a bachelor's degree
from Southeast University in July 1992 and an EMBA from Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business, Beijing, the PRC, in September
2011. Mr. Ye is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

HITES

EREE(TEEE]) AAREREETHR
w45 M- \A+-_BEZE
TEHTEE - BELA4E-_S=-_=F)\A—
HEETAAREFERITHRBH BEELER
ENBIETERE -BRAERRIESTEHE
BT FENEELH FBRIETE BT
EnREE PRAEREINESHITE &
EERTE(DHERKR NI -HEE52
EXEE)E BEEEEUMEERERDA
([R&E] —BR_E—=FREBTMK
VHAR) MBFEREAHACIERH
E EBETFTEPH - HEEAKRERES T
BRE AELAEHE ATAREERE
RERBRITENRARERE) °

¥EBEE ([EEE] BF635m N-T
——F—A+tBAMAREBETARA
BITEERITHRAEH XEEB T —=F
NA—HREZAAARARBER TEZ
T-—ZF—A+\BREBITAKQFKIE
T -EEAR - TE—=F_A-_+)\HE
ZABARAEE - EXREER T —AF
ZANBBERARITHRER —B - BNHA
FEARARBEF - EEEER_ZE—EF LA
=+ —HBEAARRERF B BDHRAER
RAIATEEF B -EXERNTAREARFZ
GENFERAENARBEERARAZE
U RERENREMEREBERARZ
TR -ENERBOBTFNRAIKERER
KR -ETEDHBAREARENBRGE
HEBEEREREKYRENRMEA
ENIRM -BER—NAN=ZF+tAEBSERE
REBESEAR - IR _BE——FALABER
A E AL R RIS B2t BEMBAS i »
ERERARRABEMBRARZES



Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. XU Feng (“Mr. Xu”), age 50, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 18 September 2023. Mr. Xu graduated
from Peking University Guanghua School of Management* (1t X K22
KBERBR).

Mr. Xu is a member of The China Democratic National Construction
Association (CDNCA). He has been served as deputy to the 13th,
14th and 15th National People’s Congress of Qigihar City, standing
member of the 12th Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (CPPCC) of Qigihar City, vice chairman
of the Ninth Committee of Qigihar Youth Federation* and the Fifth
Youth Chamber of Commerce of Qigihar City*, member of the
Standing Committee of Qigihar Municipal Committee of the CDNCA.
He has been awarded the honorary titles including “Excellent
Youth Entrepreneur”, “May Fourth Youth Medal of Qigihar City” and
“Advanced Individual of National Social Work” rated by The CDNCA
Central Committee.

Save as disclosed above, no executive Directors of the Company
have held any other directorships in listed public companies in
the last three years and none of them are connected with any
other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and any executive Director. There is no specific term in respect of
their respective appointment, but subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company. The executive Directors are not entitled to director’s
fee but will be entitled to discretionary bonus to be decided by the
Board based on their contributions, the Company’s annual business
performance and the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. Details of directors’ remuneration in 2022 are
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng (“Mr. He”), aged 54, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 August 2012. Mr. He holds
a doctorate degree in Politics and Economics from Nanjing University.
Mr. He currently serves as the general manager of @ & & 2 F A&
B AR A al (Nanjing Bai Ao In Big Data Technology Co., Ltd*). He
previously served as a director and president of &R 28 &% AR
‘A A (Nanjing Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd*) and as secretary of /T4
= PF9%/~F & B Z (Youth League of Liuao District of Sanmen County
of Zhejiang Province*), and also served different posts in R #E 5
B IEH AR A A (Nanjing Xin Gang High-Tech Co., Ltd*), including
deputy director of the office, secretary of the board of directors and
deputy general manager. Mr. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. YU Hong Gao (“Mr. Yu”), aged 61, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 1 August 2012. Mr. Yu
graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology and
holds a doctorate degree. Mr. Yu previously served as deputy general
manager of the department of Entrusted Assets Management, general
manager of Asset Management Department and general manager of
Securities Investment Department of 2EZFEFH KD B R A F (Huatai
Securities Co., Ltd.*), deputy manager of the Investment Department
of JTE#r& B MESHEMERKIZEE AR (Jiangsu High-Tech Capital
Venture Co., Ltd. of the department of Finance of Jiangsu Province*),
deputy head of HR{EIRITE RS 1T AT (Chengxi Sub-branch
of China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch*), deputy general manager
of Securities Investment Head Office and general manager of
Assets Management Head Office of 2= H KRB ER A A (Xin Tai
Securities Co., Ltd.”).
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Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. CHEN Yang (“Ms. Chen”), aged 50, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 5 September 2014. Ms. Chen
graduated from Southeast University and holds a master degree. Ms.
Chen currently serves as deputy general manager of Nanjing Yulan
Road Branch of Dongguan Securities Co., Ltd.* (BZEiIHEREEA
GRS T
of Nanjing Hongwu South Road Branch of Dongxing Securities Co.,
Ltd.* CRELGESFAD AR AR R 7O RIS AE 5 2 % 80) , marketing
manager of Nanjing Hanzhong Road Branch of Xiangcai Securities
Co., Ltd* ORBIFEEH R AR A Rl @ mOEFR B 5 & % 8) and
customer relationship manager of Nanjing Pacific South Road Branch
of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (BZEEZEAE R D BR A RE
RNV A EEEL) .

#8) . She previously served as sales director

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive Director
of the Company has held any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years or is otherwise connected with
any other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
There is no specific term in respect of their respective appointment,
but subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meetings of the Company. Mr. He, Mr. Yu and
Ms. Chen received director's fee of HK$120,000, HK$120,000 and
HK$120,000, respectively, in 2022.

Note: The English translation of the Chinese name(s), where indicated, is
included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
the official English name(s) of such Chinese name(s).
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ESEHE

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in property development and investment and
natural gas business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and the
probable future business development of the Group are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. A discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
financial key performance indicators is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
In addition, the environmental policies and performance, compliance
with relevant laws and regulations and the Group’s relationship with its
employees are disclosed in the environmental, social and governance
report of the Company.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Business Risks

The Group’s business risk factors include changes in the overall
market conditions, downward pressure on China’'s economy and
change of government policies in China. The Board is responsible for
overall business management and review of major business decisions
involving disclosure of significant risks from time to time.

Financial Risks

The Group has adopted a series of financial risk management policies
to manage its liquidity risk, credit term allocation risk, financing
structure risk, interest rate risk and exchange rate risk. The Board
also reviews the Group’s management accounts, capital structure and
key operational data on a monthly basis.
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Compliance Risks

The Board takes effective measures to ensure compliance of the
Company with the laws, regulations and rules. The Company has
engaged professional consultants and advisors to keep the Company
updated on the latest changes in the regulatory environment,
including legal, financial, environmental and operational development.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers taken together accounted for
approximately 15% and 58% respectively of the Group’s total revenue
for the year.

The aggregate cost of sales attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 15% and 58% respectively of the Group’s total cost of
sales for the year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 202 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 63 to 64 of this annual report.

The state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 65 to 66 of
this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year ended
31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2022
are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and has committed to comply throughout the year with
the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance practices
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LU Yi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed as chairman on 1 August 2023)

Mr. XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 18 September 2023)

Mr. YE De Chao

Mr. XU Feng (Appointed on 18 September 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. HE Jin Geng

Mr. YU Hong Gao

Ms. CHEN Yang
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In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. LU Yi, Mr. XU Feng, Mr. HE Jin Geng and Mr. YU
Hong Gao shall retire from the Board at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service contract
with the Company or any member of the Group which is not expiring
or terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follows:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES

REBRZIFE

Number of Shares held

BFEZRGER
% to the issued
Personal Corporate share capital of
Name of Director Interests Interests Total the Company
R NN
ERITRA
Espns BARER NERER ny 7 £t (%)
Mr. Ye De Chao HE@EE - 110,819,851 110,819,851 25.95
(Note)
(F&E)

Note: These Shares were held by Legendary Base International Limited, a
company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao. Hence, he was
deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these Shares.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Ye De Chao was the beneficial owner of
60% interests in Forward Investment, an associated corporation of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associate corporation (within the meaning of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

MisE: ZEROVBEEBLEAEZERBZAA
Legendary Base International Limited #F
BBt EWRARBEMBZERNZE
i o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2008
(the “Share Option Scheme’). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to enable the Group and its invested entities (any
entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest)
to recruit and retain high calibre eligible persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or invested entities, to
recognise the contributions of the eligible persons to the growth of
the Group or invested entities by rewarding them with opportunities
to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to motivate and give
incentives to these eligible persons to continue to contribute to the
long term success and prosperity of the Group or invested entities.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may invite any
eligible person including any director and employee of the Company
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years.
The Share Option Scheme expired on 11 July 2018. No new share
option scheme had been adopted by the Company as at the date of
this report.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES REBIRZIHFE
% to the issued
Number of share capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares the Company
HAEAR
BBITRAE
RRAW BESH R 8B B2 (%)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (Note 1) Interests of controlled corporation 110,819,851 25.95
PRESKREERETELE (1) XA E R
China Construction Bank Corporation (Note 2) Interests of controlled corporation 110,819,851 25.95
PR IRITIR D BR AR (MFE2) SPEAE R
Legendary Base International Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 110,819,851 25.95
Legendary Base International Limited (Hf553)  EZm#HA A
Expert Ever Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 38,395,600 8.99
Expert Ever Limited (Ff#54) EmEEA
Zhang Xiaojun (Note 4) Interests of controlled corporation 38,395,600 8.99
AR (Mizke) REEEER
PHOENIX BRIDGE INTERNATIONAL Beneficial owner 49,054,400 11.49
HOLDINGS GROUP INVESTMENT EnlEEA
CO., LTD (Note 5)
EER R ZEREEBR AR (MEE5)
Mr. WANG Dade (Note 5) Beneficial owner 59,779,000 14.00

T REBSAE (MEE5)

Notes:

EmEBA

(1)

)

China Construction Bank Corporation was owned as to 57.11% by
Central Huijin Investment Ltd..

According to the disclosure of interest form filed by China Construction
Bank Corporation, China Construction Bank Corporation reported
interests because Prosper Talent Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation, was reported to
have direct interests in the Shares. So far as the Company was aware
of, Prosper Talent Limited was a person having a security interest in the
Shares under a share pledge.

Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De
Chao, who is a director of both the Company and Legendary Base
International Limited.

Expert Ever Limited was wholly-owned by Zhang Xiaojun.

PHOENIX BRIDGE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP INVESTMENT
CO., LTD was wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Dade.

FRERRITROERARIATRESEE
BRETRREAFS7.11%HE -
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WEERE FEERBITROER AR AR
1 = J9 R Ef #RProsper Talent Limited ( &/
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ANEERG zEEEE AR R A
Prosper Talent Limited &K E A
Bin M=z AtLeo

Legendary Base International Limitedf 2K 2
7] & Legendary Base International LimitedE
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Expert Ever Limited 3R E £ EHE A ©
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TERAE .

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER

45



46

Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no person (other
than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Group are set out on pages 34 to 37 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in notes 14 and 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited (“Keen
Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), Mr. Ye (an executive
director and a substantial shareholder of the Company), Modern
Admission Group Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi and Forward Investment
had entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”) in relation to the subscription of 40% equity interests
in Forward Investment by Keen Gate (the “Subscription”) at
a consideration of HK$300 million (the “Consideration”). The
Subscription was completed on 10 December 2012. Pursuant to
the Subscription Agreement, Mr. Ye, Modern Admission Group
Limited and Mr. Lee Kai Choi (collectively, the “Guarantors”) jointly
and severally undertake to Keen Gate that the return to Keen Gate,
being the dividend receivable from the Group’s equity interests in
Forward Investment, shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration
per annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below such
threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate on a dollar-
for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in cash on or before 15
May of each calendar year.

The Return Undertaking of approximately HK$36,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was paid by the Guarantors on 15 May
2021. In the opinion of the INEDs of the Company, the Guarantors
had fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee for the year ended
31 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, Forward Investment suffered
a loss and therefore would not be able to pay any dividends to
its shareholders, including Keen Gate. The Return Undertaking
for the year ended 31 December 2021 would be approximately
HK$36,000,000. The Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate the
amount of approximately HK$36,000,000 on or before 15 May 2021.

BERXS

RZE——FhAZ++tH BERRER
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EEE(ARARTESRETERRE)
Modern Admission Group Limited  Z= &
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Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors shall fulfill
their obligations on or before 15 May 2022. As at the date of this
annual report, the Guarantors have not yet fulfilled their obligations
under the guarantee by paying the compensation of approximately
HK$36,000,000 to Keen Gate for the year ended 31 December
2021. Subsequently on 31 August 2023, the Guarantor committed to
the Company in writing that due to his serious health condition, the
Return Undertaking for 2022 (and 2021) will be settled on or before
31 August 2024. The Directors of the Company will closely monitor
the status of the fulfilment of the Guarantors’ obligations regarding
the Return Undertaking and will disclose to the public as when the
Guarantors have fulfilled their obligations or when the Guarantors fail
to fulfill their obligations on or before 31 August 2024 by publication
of an announcement.

The INEDs had been informed about the abovementioned. The INEDs
will closely monitor the status of the fulfiment of the Guarantors’
obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and will provide
an opinion (the “INED Opinion”) on whether the Guarantors had
fulfilled their obligations. The INED Opinion will be disclosed in the
Company’s next published annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee presently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditors the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates, is
interested in any business that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, nor has
any other conflict of interest with the Group.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

On 19 March 2020, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited resigned as the auditors
of the Company. The Audit Committee recommended to appoint HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited with effect from 19 March 2020 to fill
the casual vacancy so arising. On 11 October 2023, HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited resigned as the auditors of the Company. The
Audit Committee recommended to appoint Asian Alliance (HK) CPA
Limited with effect from 11 October 2023 to fill the casual vacancy so
arising.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as the auditors
of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

LUYi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 5 January 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

VR R - TTE: &

/ SR(E ) B EEA A RAT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED

TERERRERRLA

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
63 to 201, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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TRRERCEE
(A] BEXEEDFHRER T

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
[A) LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING

BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI
YUAN

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a key management
of the Group has been suffering from serious health problems,
which caused great hindrance to him in the management
and daily works in the Group. In light of the disruptions and
uncertainty surrounding the operation of X3EE HRE) R EH
R 22 8] (Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd.*) (“Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan”), a principal non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group, all of the employees of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, including the
key personnel of the management team and the responsible
person for finance and accounting matters of Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan, had left Tianjin Hui Li Yuan. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan has
suspended its operation since the year ended 31 December
2021.

The directors of the Company had taken all reasonable steps to
preserve and maintain the books and records of Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan that were left behind by certain former management and
key personnel of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan responsible for finance and
accounting matters, including but not limited to the management
accounts, ledgers and sub-ledgers account. Despite the
best endeavor of the directors of the Company to (i) locate
supporting documents, such as invoices, purchase orders,
construction agreements (the “Construction Agreements”)
and progress reports (the “Progress Reports”), regarding the
construction in progress, major assets of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan,
and (i) assemble the explanations on the journal entries, they
were unable to fully access/recover the accounting and finance
records.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

[A) LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING

BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI
YUAN (Continued)

In addition, as disclosed in Notes 22 and 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan had entered into
an agreement (the “Pledge Agreement”) with a PRC trust
company (the “Lender”), to provide a pledge (the “Pledge”)
of the properties of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan (“Tianjin Properties”),
which are major assets of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan with aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$Nil as at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022, to secure a loan in the sum
of RMB80,000,000 (the “Loan”) granted by the Lender to a
business partner (the “Borrower”), an independent third party of
the Group. In order to protect the interest of the Group against
the loss which might be suffered by the Group under the
Pledge, the Borrower and the non-controlling interest of Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan entered into a counter indemnity in favour of the
Group pursuant to which they agreed to, among other matters,
indemnify the Group for its liabilities and loss which may arise
from the Pledge. The non-controlling interest of Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan also agreed to indemnify the Group by offering a pledge of
its 40% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan to the Group upon
default in loan payments by the Borrower. On 30 March 2022,
KEmmE M EARART (Tianjin Nankai District People’s Court*)
made a judgement (the “Judgement”) that amongst other things,
the Borrower shall compensate XZYEELEOZSEE A
A (Tianjin Product Import & Export Trading Co., Ltd.*) (“Tianjin
Trading”), being a party which the Lender has transferred its
interest in the Loan. If the Borrower fail to compensate Tianjin
Trading, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan shall bear the shortfall amount by
the proceed from sale of the Tianjin Properties. As a result, the
Tianjin Properties were fully impaired and impairment loss of
approximately HK$113,919,000 was recognised during the year

ended 31 December 2021.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION THRRBR2EE @)

(Continued)

[A] LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING [(A) BB X EE 1 FEEZER

BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI
YUAN (Continued)

Under the circumstances as explained above, we were not able
to carry out procedures which we considered necessary on
the books and records of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, including but not
limited to the Construction Agreements, the Progress Reports,
the Pledge Agreement and the indemnity documents, to
satisfy ourselves as to (i) the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness, accuracy, valuation and classification of (a) its
total assets of approximately HK$7,318,000, total liabilities of
approximately HK$88,883,000 and the cumulative exchange
reserve of approximately HK$2,007,000 (debit balance) as at
31 December 2021; and (b) its total assets of approximately
HK$6,743,000, total liabilities of approximately HK$84,458,000
and the cumulative exchange reserve of approximately
HK$7,011,000 (debit balance) as at 31 December 2022;
(ii) the occurrence, completeness, accuracy, cut-off and
classification of (a) its loss of approximately HK$128,718,000
and HK$1,154,000 for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2022, respectively; and (b) its total
comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$127,373,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and total comprehensive
income of approximately HK$3,850,000 for the years ended 31
December 2022, and (iii) the segment information of property
investment segment, the contingent liabilities and other related
disclosure notes in relation to Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, as included
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022,
have been accurately recorded and properly accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements. There were no other
satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence in this regard.
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B AR S
BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION TRRERZEE »)
(Continued)

[A] LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING [(A) BB X EE 1 FEEZER

BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI A EE R F ()
YUAN (Continued)

Financial information in respect of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is set out RABETROFHEREZ| AT
below:

Income and expenses of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan:

Other losses

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment

Finance costs

Administrative expenses

Loss before tax
Income tax expenses

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income (expenses)
for the year
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KEENRHBARFASL
2022 2021
—==—= B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
HibEiE = (11,281)
M BB KR ERER
EODCREY SR - (113,919)
B TS AR (538) (2,694)
TEAX (616) (824)
MRBIRIEE (1,154) (128,718)
TSt = - _
FAEE (1,154) (128,718)
Hip 2wk = 5,004 1,345
FREZEWE (BBX)AE
3,850 (127,373)
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

(A

(B]

LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING
BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI
YUAN (continued)

Assets and liabilities of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan:

FrRXRBERZEE »

A) EEEXEELFHRERT
FHIEERF &)

REENFRNEERAE:

2021
—ET-—F
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME - BRE KRB - -
Other receivables H i fE W R IE 6,632 7,198
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEED 111 120
Other payables H b fE T RIE (17,381) (16,074)
Amounts due to the Group B BEEFIE (67,077) (72,809)
Net liabilities of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan KAEENRHBEFE (77,715) (81,565)

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above matters
might have significant consequential effects on the consolidated
financial performance and cash flows of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022 and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON INTERESTS IN
ASSOCIATES

As disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s interests in associates represent
40% equity interests in Forward Investment (PRC) Company
Limited (“Forward Investment”) and its subsidiary (collectively
referred to as the “Forward Investment Group”). The carrying
amount of the Group’s interests in associates amounted to
approximately HK$832,000 as at 31 December 2021, share of
loss of associates amounted to approximately HK$169,558,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021, and share of other
comprehensive income of the associates amounted to
approximately HK$3,281,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

(B] LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON INTERESTS IN
ASSOCIATES (Continued)

In accordance with JTEEH +&FEE K (2019) 165 X (the
Jiangning Land Resources Preliminary Review Letter (2019)
Document No. 16*) issued on 11 November 2019, @R &+
ERBEIES B (Jiangning Branch of Nanjing Department of
Land and Resources*) approved the project scope of “FJ R
TR R4 ILIEEE — B T2 (Phase Il Project of Jinniushan
Supercharging Station*) in Jiangning District, Nanjing Jiangsu
Province, the PRC (the “Jinniushan Project”). The project scope
includes the land under development (the “Guli Project”) held
by the Forward Investment Group located in Guli community
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, in order for the
Jinniushan Project to proceed, AEHBEERZEZ (Guli
Community Residents Committee*) (“Guli Committee”) entered
into a compensation agreement with I REMBRIEEER A
7] (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) (“Nanjing
Taihe”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Forward Investment,
pursuant to which Guli Committee offer to compensate Nanjing
Taihe for the land resumption (the “Land Resumption”) for
approximately RMB18,619,000 and Nanjing Taihe accepted the
offer. Therefore, Naning Taihe recognised a loss on disposal
of construction in progress included in property, plant and
equipment amounted to approximately HK$121,161,000 resulted
from the Land Resumption during the year ended 31 December
2021.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
as at 1 January 2021, to satisfy ourselves as to the existence,
rights and obligations, completeness, accuracy, valuation and
classification of the Guli Project, and hence the accuracy of
the loss on disposal, which might have material effects on i)
the financial position of the Forward Investment Group as at 1
January 2021; and ii) the financial performance of the Forward
Investment Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

(B] LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON INTERESTS IN
ASSOCIATES (Continued)

In additions, the management of the Forward Investment Group
performed ECL assessment on its financial assets, including
other receivables and bank balances as at 31 December 2021.
As at 31 December 2021, the allowance for credit losses of
other receivables is approximately HK$221,252,000, resulting
impairment losses on other receivables of approximately
HK$221,252,000, being recognised in the consolidated profit
or loss of the Forward Investment Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

However, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the opening
balances of the allowance for credit losses of other receivables,
as at 1 January 2021 of HK$Nil, were free from material
misstatements and hence whether the impairment loss on
other receivables of approximately HK$221,252,000, for
the year ended 31 December 2021, were free from material
misstatement.

Consequently, as the Group accounts for its interests in the
Forward Investment Group by using equity method, we were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves that the Group’s share of net assets of the Forward
Investment Group as at 1 January 2021 and the Group'’s share
of result and other comprehensive income of the Forward
Investment Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
were free from material misstatements. There were no other
satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence in this regard.

Any adjustment to the amount of the above share of result and
other comprehensive expense of the Forward Investment Group
would affect the Group’s loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and related disclosures
to the consolidated financial statements. Our audit opinion on
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 was modified because of the possible effect
of this matter on the comparability of the related current year
figures and the corresponding figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

[C] LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON L0OSS ON

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS [“ECL”] FOR
FINANCIAL ASSETS

As described in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group performed ECL assessment of financial
assets, including trade receivables, other receivables, deposits
and prepayments and bank balances as at 31 December 2021.
As at 31 December 2021, the allowance for credit losses of
trade receivables, other receivables, deposits and prepayments
are approximately HK$86,714,000 and HK$99,980,000,
respectively, resulting in impairment losses on trade receivables,
other receivables, deposits and prepayments of approximately
HK$65,640,000 and HK$126,660,000, respectively, being
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

However, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the opening
balances of the allowance for credit losses of trade receivables,
other receivables, deposits and prepayments, as at 1 January
2021 of approximately HK$20,547,000 and HK$20,176,000,
respectively, were free from material misstatements and hence
whether the impairment loss on trade receivables, other
receivables, deposits and prepayments of approximately
HK$65,640,000 and HK$126,660,000, respectively, for the
year ended 31 December 2021, were free from material
misstatement.

Any adjustment to the amount of the above impairment loss on
trade receivables, other receivables, deposits and prepayments
would affect the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December
2021 and related disclosures to the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 was modified
because of the possible effect of this matter on the comparability
of the related current year figures and the corresponding figures
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

(D) LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

As described in Note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of investment properties as at
31 December 2021 of approximately HK$29,816,000. The fair
value of the Group’s investment properties are determined by
adopting the valuation techniques with significant unobservable
inputs, assumptions of market conditions and judgements. The
Group also engaged an independent qualified professional
valuer to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
techniques, resulting in a net loss from changes in fair
value of investment properties amounting to approximately
HK$24,944,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

However, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the fair
values of the investment properties as at 1 January 2021
of approximately HK$53,782,000, were free from material
misstatements and hence whether the loss from changes in
fair value of investment properties amounting to approximately
HK$24,944,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, were
free from material misstatement.

Any adjustment to the amount of the above changes in fair
values of investment properties would affect the Group’s loss
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and related disclosures
to the consolidated financial statements. Our audit opinion on
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 was modified because of the possible effect
of this matter on the comparability of the related current year
figures and the corresponding figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

(E]) MULTIPLE FUNDAMENTAL UNCERTAINTIES
RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

As stated in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group reported loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$227,735,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$402,555,000 and the Group had net liabilities of
approximately HK$378,089,000, in which interest-bearing
borrowing, the respective interest payable and redemption
premium payable amounted to approximately HK$115,000,000
and HK$271,297,000 respectively, while its cash and cash
equivalents only amounted to approximately HK$2,347,000. In
additions, due to an array of epidemic prevention measures
including lockdown measures implemented by the PRC
government due to the COVID-19 and the downturn of the
property market in the PRC in 2022, the business operation of
the Group was inevitably affected.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and therefore it may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the directors of the Company on a going concern
basis, the validity of which is dependent on the Group’s ability
to obtain sufficient future funding. Due to the uncertainty of
the Group’s ability to maintain adequate future cash flows, we
were unable to ascertain whether the assumptions made by
the directors of the Company in preparing the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis are proper and
appropriate.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments would be necessary to reclassify all non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively,
to write-down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts
and to provide for further liabilities which may arise. The
consolidated financial statements have not incorporated any of
these adjustments. However, the uncertainty surrounding the
Group’s future cash flows raises significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. We consider that
appropriate disclosures have been made in the consolidated
financial statements concerning this situation, but we are unable
to obtain adequate evidence concerning the Group’s ability to
meet any financial obligations as and when they fall due and
we consider that these material uncertainties relating to going
concern basis.

We consider| the cumulative effect of the above matters on the
consolidated financial statements is so extreme that we have
disclaimed our opinion.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chung Chi Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06610

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

5 January 2024

*  Foridentification purpose only
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 842 —F - —F+_A=+—HI FZ

2022 2021
—E2_- —E-—%F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt & FTExT FHT
Revenue i 2 7 2,715 3,157
Cost of sales HHE KA (176) (1,146)
Gross profit EX 2,539 2,011
Other income, gains and losses EUrA -~ Yoz & B8 9 36,064 24,724
Loss from changes in fair value of R EMEATFEEHEE 2
investment properties, net B8R 20 (3,393) (24,944)
Impairment losses recognised in MWE BWELRBERZ
respect of property, plant and BIEEE
equipment 18 - (113,999)
Impairment losses under expected TEE{ZEEEENE TH
credit loss model, net of reversal BEEE (FpREE) 11 (177,609) (192,300)
Administrative expenses TR (9,802) (12,044)
Share of results of associates i /NE e 23 (766) (169,558)
Finance costs B TS R AR 10 (76,442) (160,500)
Loss before tax BRBAIEE 13 (229,409) (646,610)
Income tax expenses FrigBif = 12 = -
Loss for the year FAEE (229,409) (646,610)
Attributable to: B
— Owners of the Company BYN/NEIEZ PN (227,735) (581,677)
— Non-controlling interests - FEERR R R R (1,674) (64,933)
Loss for the year FAEE (229,409) (646,610)
(restated)
(€<=
Loss per share BREE 17
Basic HAR (53.33) centsfll (136.23) centsfll
Diluted g N/AT 3E F N/AT 5 A
FERERZRERRAFH

ZE_CFER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AEBERREMEEHEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 842 —F - —#F+_A=+—HI FF

Loss for the year FREE

Other comprehensive (expenses) FRHEMZE (BIX) W&
income for the year:

ltems that may be reclassified HignguEfosiEzEan

subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEH :

Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBREEZ
translation of foreign operations E N =R

Share of other comprehensive JE(REtE AR HM2mE
(expenses) income of ( F ) Wz (F0BR A RS
associates, net of related Frig#)
income tax

Reclassification of cumulative R EBINERE
exchange reserve upon B OB RFTELHE

disposal of a foreign operation

Other comprehensive (expenses) FREME2E (X)) WE i
income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive expenses FREEHBZEE
for the year

Total comprehensive expenses UTEEEGE2AEMAE:
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company - RRAHEB A
— Non-controlling interests - TR R

Total comprehensive expenses THAXAR

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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2021

—E-—F

Note HK$’000
M FE FHET
(229,409) (646,610)

(6,202) 15,373

23 (65) 3,281
(73) -

(6,340) 18,654
(235,749) (627,956)
(234,766) (564,004)
(983) (63,952)
(235,749) (627,956)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

At 31 December 2022 R —FE -~ —F+_-H=+—H

2021
=St
Note HK$'000
B 5 T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME  BEREE 18 = 9
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 527 268
Investment properties REME 20 24,175 29,816
Goodwill BES 21 - -
Interests in associates REE RR 2 = 23 - 832
24,702 30,925
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Trade receivables FEYE 5 R 24 505 53,854
Other receivables, deposits and Hh e URIE ke Rk
prepayments TE{F 3R IE 25 52,282 153,543
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 26 2,347 1,862
55,134 209,259
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FERTE 5 R 27 13,463 14,660
Accruals and other payables FERT B A R H M0 FE T RRIE 28 323,213 246,362
Interest-bearing borrowing FEBE 29 115,000 115,000
Lease liabilities HEAaE 30 296 296
Tax payables eI ELIE 5,717 6,206
457,689 382,524
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FE A EFE (402,555) (173,265)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBES
LIABILITIES (377,853) (142,340)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEMG
Lease liabilities HE&aE 30 236 -
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (BEFRHE EERE (378,089) (142,340)
FERERZRERRAFH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR R

At 31 December 2022 R —ZF - —4#+—-H=+—H

CAPITAL AND RESERVES %7 R A 4

Share capital L@

Reserves {1

Equity attributable to owners of ARATEEAELER

the Company
Non-controlling interests R RER

TOTAL DEFICIT B Al4a%E

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 201 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5
January 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

LuYi
E i
Director

EF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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2021
—E-—F
Notes HK$'000
B E FHET
33 213,496 213,496

(529,179) (294,413)

(315,683) (80,917)

34 (62,406) (61,423)

(378,089) (142,340)

E63E R F201HTH LA

MBERER-F

TMFE-ARAKEFESHRAERRETIE

A TINALRREFEHE:

Ye De Chao
Director

EF



CONSAQLID*ATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARREBHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 Bl2 —F - —&F+_-H=+—HIFF

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG PN
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share  reserve reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  (Note 1) (Note 2) reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
ERER
AXRE 8 IR

BA - RiaE  (KED (M) EREE  ZHBR et BORMER GBS
HK$000  HK$000 HKS000 ~ HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TEL  TEr  TEX  TEL  TER TEr  TEr  TEr  TER

At 1 January 2021 RZZ--5-A-A 213496 756,049 72 69 (46,905) (439,694) 483,087 2529 485,616

Loss for the year ERBE - - - - - (681,677)  (581,677) (64,933)  (646,610)

Other comprehensive income EREMEZEKS:

for the year:
ltems that may be reclassified HETRRENIEZ

subsequently to profit or loss: EnZEL:
Exchange differences arisingon ~~ AEBNEBELZ

translation of foreign operations EHER - - - - 14,392 - 14392 981 15,373
Share of other comprehensive EEBEATEN2ERR

income of associates, (MR AREmER)

net of related income tax - - - - 3,281 - 3,281 - 3,281
Other comprehensive income EREMZERE Hik

for the year, net of tax - - - - 17,673 - 17,673 981 18,654
Total comprehensive income FR2EKE (B2 B8

(expenses) for the year - - - - 17,673 (581,677)  (564,004) (63952)  (627,956)
At 31 December 2021 W-B-—E+-AZ+-8 21349 756,049 72 60 (29232) (1021371)  (80917)  (61423) (142:340)

FERERZRERRAFH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SARREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_A=+—HI FF

Attributable to owners of the Company
ARERA AR

Capital
Capital redemption Non-
Share Share  reserve reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling

capital premium  (Note 1) (Note2)  reserve losses  Subtotal interests
EXER
EAfE 1 FER
BA  ROBE (W) (W@ EXRE  RHES Mt REER Bt
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEx TE=n TR TR TEn Thxn TEx TiE=n

At 1 January 2022 W-E--f-F-F 213496 756,049 7) 60 (29232) (1021371) (80917)  (61428) (142,340)

Loss for the year ERNBE = = - -

(27735) (227735)  (1,674) (229,409

Other comprehensive income FREM2ERE (FX):

(expenses) for the year:
ltems that may be reclassified HETRRENIEZ

subsequently to profit or loss: BEnZEL:
Exchange differences arisingon ~ BEENEREL L

translation of foreign operations EHER - - - - (6,893) - (6,893) 691 (6,202)
Share of other comprehensive EEBERTEM2ERY

expenses of associates, (M AREmER)

net of related income tax - - - - (65) = (65) = (65)
Reclassification of cumulative RIEEBIERKE

exchange reserve upon ENAREHELRE

disposal of a foreign operation - - - - (73) = (73) = (73)
Other comprehensive (expenses) ~ EREMEE (F%) Kz

income for the year, net of tax it - - - - (7031) - (7031) 691 (6,340)
Total comprehensive expenses FR2ERYEE

for the year - - - - (031)  (227735) (234,766) (983)  (235,749)
At 31 December 2022 W-2==F+-A=+-0 21349 756049 7 69 (36263 (12906) (315683)  (62,406) (378,089)
Notes: B 5T

1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive injection of 1. AEEERFBENBRARFMELRZ B
the registered capital of a subsidiary. FE

2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares 2. & 7ZNEE B4 15 A AT 2 K 4 7 88 @ 3D 2
repurchased out of distributable profit. Ee

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-ﬁ/\Iﬁlﬁl)le%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E % — % — —

FEF-A=F—HIFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Interest income

Finance costs

Loss from changes in fair value of
investment properties

Impairment losses recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment

Impairment losses under expected credit
losses model, net of reversal

Loss arising from litigation

Share of results of associates

Operating cash flow before movement in
working capital
Increase in trade and other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Decrease in trade and other payables

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY
Interest received

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment to a substantial shareholder
Repayment of lease liabilities

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

RERE
B B A5 18

SR FIVE R
ME - BE RREA R

EREEENE
FEIA

BTG RAR
REMEAFEEDHES
ZER

LK BB KRR
ZREEE

BHEEEERARTH

BEER (ERER)
A EERER
JEIGHE 2 N A2 A

REELBHH 2
KRERERE

e B 5 BRI E A U

FRIE - ®e RIER RIE
Eill
ENEZERERR

H At &S FRIE R

REXRBRE (FFA)
BREFH

REXBEHBHREFR
2 A B

BMERE
ﬂ*%IE%%E%%E

MEXBACREEFRE

2021

e S

HK$'000

FHET
(229,409) (646,610)
352 331
(6) (5)
76,442 160,500
3,393 24,944
- 113,999
177,609 192,300
- 11,281

766 169,558
29,147 26,298
(22,999) (44,098)
525 3,278
6,673 (14,522)

6 5
(1,292) (4,115)
(387) (369)
(1,679) (4,484)
HEERREARAT

ZE_CFER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_A=+—HI FF

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FET
RERRESEEYEM
(RD) F58 5,000 (19,001)
REDZHERBEESESEY
1,862 18,491
HNEE PR R B B 2 A (4,515) 2,372
RERZHEERBESZEY
2,347 1,862




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 Bl2 —F - —&F+_-H=+—HIFF

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 June 1992 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands. The shares of the Company are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office of
the Company in the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co.
Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands. The address of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong was Suite 607, 6/F., Ocean Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Subsequent to the reporting
period, the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company has been changed to Room 705A, 7/F., New East
Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
“Group”) are described in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

—REHR

FREEZEEERAR ([AAF])R
—ANZFEXATRBREFEZES
REVEEREBHE MK A —HE
BRBRARARDFRMDNE B
ERXRGMBR LA ([BERPF]) ETe
ARAlzREHSTMMEEMU A
The R&H Trust Co. Ltd., Windward 1,
Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, Cayman lslands ° Z&X
RElZBEETMPERERFTELHEM
BURBBNERDBERBSRET
FL6EE07E - NI EHER - AR A
AMPEERFELEMWHETRE
BNRERDBERMBEBIRNREE
E R LTIET05AE ©

ARm R —HREERRA - HEHE
AE (ERAARRA GBI AEE]) 2
TEXBRER B MK E34% 71
T~ ©

AiaMBHRE2ABT (BT 2
5 BARRAZEEEEMER -

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

RGBT 2B BUMBR
EER ([EEMBRE
A1)

A R £ KB & B A
B EER Z 155 A

RAFE AEBEBHXNEMTH A
AEgHmMAg ([EEaestmag])
EHUEW _TE-_—_F—AF—HBs&z%
s e AEBFEHBAEFERESE
BT B £ 2 BB B W E LR
ZAEET A

EEFHHRE  HSiEZRMEM
AERI B 35%

(1BET)

EERBHRE R-T-_—FXA
AR 165 =t+HZ%EN
(B3I A) COVID-1948 7

HeER

BERGEER  ME- -BENERE
F165% — BT REA
CEHEN FT1S 58

BERGEER I BEMAN-ET
F375% B KRB AR
CEHEN

BEMBRE  EABVBERELEL
ER(BFTAR) ZZT—N\FZE

—ZEEF
FERE

BR TSPt oh - AN 2 e P &8 B 5 R
SR ZETARY EENEHE §
ERFENTBRARKRE,HZE
HEVBRRABBEEBRITMNEAY

@,
2!



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. BRARBII 2EBYB®R

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on or after 1
January 2022. The amendments update a reference in HKFRS
3 Business Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018
(the “Conceptual Framework”) instead of Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2010 issued in October 2010), add a requirement that, for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)- Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities
it has assumed in a business combination and add an explicit
statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets
acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had
no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HEA (TBBHBRE
2R ]) )

A R £ KB & B A
BHREER ZIZET A (%)

HERTEBMBHREEAEIN (&
BRI A) B2 ER Ry RN E

AEBHKRBERAS T _—_F—A
—HHZENEBEHEA T ZEE
AR -ZFEAAEHTEAYBR
SEANEIREF S HHO—HEM
EHEREANR T N\FRAEMN -
F-NFYHFREMZMER ([B24E
R]) M R ZE 5 E
HH_E-—ZEFETARMN-F—
FEYHFHEHXERINR) R/ —
HEFR AR EB G ERIEITH
B AARRERAXAEESETE (B
RMBHREREERES) —REF21
BHEBEANRZZNEN BB
ERAEBEHERNFEITHRAERE (
R RERERES) —RES2
BMIERAM O ERRBEERLERT
BHPAENAE: RANMARENR
BB BT T HERERBA P I

EN3 3 SEETLES £3TET. )
WA BREELYE -

AEEZREFRAA
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The annual improvements make amendments to
the following standards:

HKFRS ¢ Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent”
test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged as at the date of initial application, 1 January 2022.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor
in order to remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had
no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

2. EREBITz2ERMBR

EHEB ([FBMERSE
2R]) )
E 7B {8 14 K £ 3 2 #TaT

RAEIEETEER B #HEE
Ay

AEEYW MR R AT 2 HEMEH
REMZ AT RBET BBV RE

effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts'

2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(2022)
Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates!

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules’

Supplier Finance Arrangements®

Lack of Exchangeability*

A8

BEMBREER  RRAL
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ZABEIR)

B BRE R REEEEBENT

Z10RREBET  HAELEZHE

A28 2855 BENEITE

({BFTA)

BRI BREER ERANZHEEEE

F1657 (BATA)

ERQHERER BEEIEARD

(BFTA) ERBUAREERRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

2.

RGBT 2B BUMBR
EER ([EEMBRE

Z28]) @)

E A REMZFE
RABIEGTE B B #HEE
Al ()

! RoB-=F—-F—-HikziHHZ
FREMRE A -

PR B B 2 I
o

P RCTomE—A-BRZEMBEY
FIEEREER -

‘ R-Z-RF-A-—HIZR&HAKZ
FRHMER-

BT XAt 2 3R] R ERT BB M 53R
HFERN ARBES ([EF]) AHE
A R M BT BBV RS
R A& H A B R AR ER A MR
RERBERTE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. BRARBII 2EBYB®R

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’'s own equity instruments, these terms do not
affect its classification as current or non-current only if
the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity's right to defer settlement of
a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
Covenants which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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BRI EAEIE (BT X)) A
BRENFGBEME([ZF==
FEFTA])
“ECFEBAARFEEEHBR
EEHE AR D+ @A NE
FIR BB E RAINES AR E D
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s TEAETHEE AEZEEER
REEEERFI2HK T
A2 REREREARE
m TR ZEFHEFATTEHE
DERRBKIFREERTE

e FRABEERBEMREFEN
BANMmMOBERRBHIERE &
BmME ZFEITRNEBEBEZIR
ITEEEEE12BARNGEERRE
MEENBIAFE -

HAEBFROBGNH 5% B R
HELREI2EALENERN S
TR R FBIAKHENERKER S
T _FEBIABER - ZEZF(E
RAIAHE RBEEREERFERR
SCHBEBETHNRESI e ERE A
HezEL+_MARNEREERLEES
BEREF EERNREHMEEBET
MRAEW N EREPRZENES
T

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER

77



78

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with
the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application
permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an
earlier period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity
should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2023, the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. BRARBII 2EBYB®R

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will
be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be
observed directly and must instead be estimated. In such a
case, an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or
assumptions based on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs
15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer applies
to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # =

2.

BRI ERRM

TE - —Ff A=+ —HIFFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
(Continued)

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
for leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities (please see Note below), the
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
of the relevant assets and liabilities are not recognised due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability
for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated

with the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group’s annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early
application permitted. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which
are subject to the amendments amounted to approximately
HK$527,000 and HK$532,000 respectively. The cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments will be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated losses (or
other component of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of
the earliest comparative period presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

31BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

As stated in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group reported loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$227,735,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$402,555,000 and the Group had
net liabilities of approximately HK$378,089,000, in
which interest-bearing borrowing and the respective
interest payable and redemption premium amounted to
approximately HK$115,000,000 and HK$271,297,000
respectively, while its cash and cash equivalents only
amounted to approximately HK$2,347,000. In additions,
due to an array of epidemic prevention measures including
lockdown measures implemented by the PRC government
due to the COVID-19 and the downturn of the property
market in the PRC in 2022, the business operation of the
Group was inevitably affected. These conditions indicate
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. HEVKBRFEREER
FESHEEX 2

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 148 BEREARRRE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL E ()

STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Directors have given careful consideration to future

liquidity and performance of the Group and its available

sources. The Directors have been taken and are taking

certain measures to manage its liquidity needs and to

improve its financial position which includes but not limited

to:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Developing existing business

The Group’s existing business is operating as
usual and the Company is endeavor to improve the
Group’s operating results and cash flows by focusing
on the existing businesses of the Group and will
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expand the existing business internationally. WHEERER LR R E
7% o

Exploring business opportunities

In addition to development of the existing business,
the Company will also explore different business
opportunities in order to increase cash inflow for
the Group to improve the financial position of the
Company.

Repaying outstanding liabilities and
collecting account receivables

The Company is actively negotiating with relevant
parties and will use its best endeavor to repay the
outstanding liabilities. Additionally, the Company
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3. HEVKBRRFEREER
FESHEEX 2

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

84

3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 148 BEREARRRE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL E ()

STATEMENTS (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Provi

Enforcing cost-saving measures

The Company will use its best endeavours to
minimise its expenses including but not limited to
administrative expenses as well as operating costs.

Loan capitalisation

The Company is in negotiation with the creditor(s)
of the Group in relation to potential capitalisation of
the debt. It will not only reduce the debt but also will
increase the shareholder base for the Company.

Potential fund-raising activities

The Group is actively seeking opportunities for fund-
raising such as rights issue, placing of new shares,
issue of new shares and/or convertible bonds,
depending on the prevailing market conditions and
the development of the Group’s businesses.

ded that the above measures are successfully

implemented and improve the financial position of the

Group, the Directors believe that the Group will have

sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working

capital and other financial needs. Accordingly, the

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2022 have been prepared on a going concern

basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &RAE

MBRREREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.1
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure of
the Group to obtain sufficient future funding. Should
the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to reduce
the carrying amounts of the assets of the Group to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for the investment
properties that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participants ability to generate
economic benefit by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would the asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition, the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVBRREHREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTTEE @)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

31BASIS OF PREPARATION OF BIHEEHBFHREBRE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL E ()
STATEMENTS (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value N BB EmEmE A FE
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 AENRE—RNEE=HH-
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value I F &R 2 8l Th IR H EUE &
measurements are observable and the significance of the AERREERZBEH A TVE
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which ENEESEN M

are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in e ZE—ARBEBEZELER
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that =B HAERTS B
the entity can access at the measurement date; REEXBEEGSNIERE

(REEAE)

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices e ZFBIRANHBEEKRE &
included within Level 1, that are observable for the RIFFBEE 2 ZEENRINN TR
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and EdEENEREELE

AEZERMEHMBIE: &

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset e ZEZRAINEBBEZHEHET

or liability. AREBEREELBENE
BmERs o
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3. HEVKBRRFEREER
FESTEHEX 2

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEEIHE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continueqd)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
group of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)

(Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount
of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating
unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &RAE

MBRREREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 FEET K (%)
(Continued)
Interests in associates REtE QAR 2R
An associate is an entity over which the Group has B AR ASEE Y EITHE
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to AREBNIZE E B-EATENIE
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions A2HEZKRERR cUBREE
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those SR BT REE %lﬁz LRIEHI 3% 5
policies. R 2

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associates. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
that are not related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition
date if there is excess of the consideration paid over the
share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
additional interests in associates acquired. Any excess
of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to
the additional interests in associates acquired over the
consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the additional interest are acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a goods or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.2
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s. performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For a sale of products with a right of return/exchange
for dissimilar products, the Group recognises all of the
following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled (therefore, revenue would not be recognised
for the products expected to be returned/
exchanged);

(b) arefund liability/contract liability; and

(c) an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost
of sales) for its right to recover products from
customers and are presented as right to returned
goods asset.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. WEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.2
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term lease and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases, e.g. motor vehicles/machinery and
equipment, if no applying to all lease that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.2
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model, right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis. over the shorter of its estimated useful
lifeland the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are presented within “land use rights” including in
investment properties.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 T EEFHHFE (#)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE#)
The Group as a lessor AEFERHHAA
Classification and measurement of leases HESELRGZE

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. WEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32T EEHHE (#)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use arising
from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying
asset.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s
interests in associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interest as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
1 06 Annual Report 2022

e (4

MREIEAMBHEERME A%
XK zEERABHNERE
HRZEREXRESARE
2HE®E (BET) - WARFEX
REURMAFHEREE K
HA A T = AR R ) Al 55 1F Bl i
EZEBEAT AERARSE
HRER -FEEZELZRE (W
B)RREMEm kSRR I
EREWNENFE (HER B
BRI B R 4 s ) T N RAT e

R EBINER (A ERNEE
RIBINET 2 2o S Rk
EH—HKBAR (BFEIINE
B)ZmblgEz HE RO HE
REBEINER (RRE DK
RERMEE) - BBZERAZ
) B AR BEE A%
EB MR ESANRFTZABER
ZHEEMOBEESK-

ESN - 7 B R G B 5 B Sk K Y
BRrREHEzZBoHENBR
Al B e I REHE L 28 E
BRI R R s MA A
REBEHRAER - RAABEEMBE D
HE (T e BMAKERESE
FENZBERABOHE)M
RPN EZRAERN ZHEE

MoMERGR.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.2
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the group entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises any
related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits and other long-term
employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits and other long-term
employee benefits (Continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. HEVKBRFEREER
FESHEEX 2

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) BE (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale
except for freehold land, which is always presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale.
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e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not
subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on
the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in'the accounting for the business
combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &RAE

MBRREREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)
(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment M- -BERZE

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Property, plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management, including costs of
testing whether the related assets is functioning properly
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
proceeds of items that are measured in accordance within
the measurement requirement of HKAS 2. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)
(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued) M- -BERSEE (&)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than properties under construction less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. WEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)
(Continued)
Investment properties REWEE

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also included leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use assets is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group
of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.
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e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowing in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability
occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where
no reliable estimate can be made.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. WEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 FEETIHE (&)
(Continued)
Financial instruments €®MIE

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. HEVKBRRFEREER
FESHEEX 2

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMITE (&)
Financial assets THEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. WEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMITE (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

- on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.2
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &RAE

MBRREREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.2
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, deposits
and prepayments and bank balances) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS

OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(1) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS

OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes-off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

- Past-due status;

- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_A=+—HI FF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FEETEHR®

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 TEETHE (&)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount with the exception of trade
receivables and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments where the correspondence adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
1 32 Annual Report 2022

EWMIA#)

RI5 & B R 75 3 & £ R E 93
T REFFA B9 £ 38 el 1

EHIEEERZFERIE

iR ()

MBKRAREBREENR
mEBEFE KRETRE
EHREERE ELHER
T HMBRRAZEREEN
BSHP AN E o

AEBBBAEMAETR
TEMNEEERNBRER
mEFZRMEREIEE K
FEW B 5 BRI K& H A &
WRTE & R IEMN RIRR
S It BB T i i S 1R
RRERAEREE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals
and other payables, interest-bearing borrowing and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group'’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING THE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised

in the consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN AND LIQUuIDITY

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial position of the Group indicates the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves
making judgement by the management, at a particular point of
time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which
are inherently uncertain. The management considers that the
Group has ability to continue as a going concern and the major
conditions that may cast significant doubt about the going
concern assumptions are set out in Note 3.1 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continvea)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2022, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to unused losses of approximately
HK$25,248,000 (2021: HK$25,265,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future, which is a key source of
estimation uncertainty. In cases where the actual future
taxable profits generated are less or more than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which result in
revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continvea)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based
on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in Note 6(b).

Provision of ECL for other receivables, deposits
and prepayments

The Group calculates the ECL for the other receivables,
deposits and prepayments by grouping the counterparties
with similar nature under general approach. The
provision rates are based on internal credit ratings, which
considered the historial settlement records and historial
default rates of the counterparties. The ECL also takes
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs
or effort. At every reporting date, changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Groups’ other
receivables, deposits and prepayments are disclosed in
Note 6(b).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BAS2E &ty M R fh=t 1 8f
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BRZEZETERR @)

UNCERTAINTY (continuea)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 1t T 3% 2 £ EXK
UNCERTAINTY (continued) R (#)
(iv) Estimated impairment of property, plant and ivl ¥ BERREUREHR

equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation of
corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of cash
generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continvea)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(iv] Estimated impairment of property, plant and

(v)

equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets subject to impairment assessment
were approximately HK$Nil and HK$527,000 (2021:
approximately HK$9,000 and HK$268,000) respectively,
after taking into account the impairment losses of
approximately HK$ Nil and HK$Nil (2021: approximately
HK$113,999,000 and HK$NIl) in respect of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets that have
been recognised respectively. Details of the impairment
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Fair values of investment properties and the
respective land use right

Investment properties and the respective land use right
are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed
by independent professional valuers. The determination
of the fair value involves certain assumptions of market
conditions which are set out in Note 20.

L BARREFTHETRMEFTTH
BEEZEZEERR 2

1ma TR E 2 FEXK
R (&)

livl % BERRKREBEUARER
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BEENMGERE @)
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continvea)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(v) Fair values of investment properties and the
respective land use right (Continued)

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Changes to assumptions, including the
potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopolitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a
result of change in macroeconomic environment, travel
restrictions implemented by many countries, increased
complexity in international trade tensions geopolitics,
changes in policy direction and/or mortgage requirements,
or other unexpected incidents would result in changes in
the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or
loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on the
risks of change in macroeconomic environment through
performing sensitivity analysis in relating to the Group’s
investment properties and respective land use right.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the
Group's investment properties and respective land use
right are approximately HK$17,237,000 and HK$6,938,000
(2021: approximately HK$22,053,000 and HK$7,763,000)
respectively.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
1 40 Annual Report 2022

L BAREFTHERMEFTH
BEEZEZEERR 2

1ma TR E 2 FEXK
R (&)

vl REVMERSBERERESR
ENELERENQFE
(%)

EREGERS2H EFCT
{8 E HIEr D A A= s ETTER A
RERBRE TR - ZFREBHOEL -
BREATSERNEBEERR-
B RBRBERRE(CEHABER
b i BUR R At & B L s Ho Al 2R 3%
= ZHERERAIKITR S
HaEMNBERE S HEB0R
ERBE BREARHER
MERZE K EMRE SIS
BRAEEREMENRFEHE
tE UHEARaEEME
ERmARPHRENBRE S EET
HERE -

EERBHAKRERENERE
BT MR E TR DT
HEBRERRESELNRER
TR BB -

RZBE-_—_F+_A=+—8"
REBREMERSE THER
EMEREED 54 &17,237,000
7t 126,938,000/ 0 (=&
— — 4 :#922,053,00008 T &%
7,763,000/ 7T ) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EXEREE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of its debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consist of net debt, which
includes interest-bearing borrowing and lease liabilities net of
cash and bank balances, and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves of
the Group.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as

AEEZEARER S ERRAEE S
TEEEESEEE YAKERE
b7 B3 2 T8 4T AR
EASDEBEE  AEEERBE
FETEBEWTE -

AEBZEARBEREAGBFE (H
BRENRRE RRITERRZFTE
EEMEERE) RARREE ARKA
#a (BRAEBEZEBHITRARR
) -

RZEZZFR_ZF=—F+=A8

follows: T —HAZEXABHERNAT:
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Interest-bearing borrowing FeEE 115,000 115,000
Interest payable and redemption ERMERERERE (GTA
premium payable (included in FE T2 P R A FE <P 5RIE)
accruals and other payables) 271,297 195,414
Lease liabilities HERE 532 296
Total debts BEAH 386,829 310,710
Less: cash and cash equivalents BRekReFED (2,347) (1,862)
Net debt BEFHE 384,482 308,848
Total equity attributable to owners of ZRATEE ABELEREEE
the Company (315,683) (80,917)
Net debt to equity ratio EEFHEEHERLLER (121.8)% (381.7)%
FEEZRERRAAE
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6. TRMITH

Al 2@ T A5 2

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
[A] CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Financial assets ERMEE
Amortised cost BB 55,134 209,259

Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost BB 452,208 376,318

[B)] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Bl Gt B fr & HZE K

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits and prepayments,
cash and bank balances, trade payables, accruals and
other payables, interest-bearing borrowing and lease
liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes to these consolidated financia
statements. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.
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6. TRTH »)
(Bl 2 @B fr & HE R

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to interest-bearing borrowing and lease liabilities.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances. The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook. The management
will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and
floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost:

Financial assets at
amortised cost

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at
FVTPL:

WHEHEN AT ENEREE

BE (&)
= & b

AEEmHEREFEEEREESR
BEEBORFENKER K&
[ 7n b B BIRTTAE SR B A
RenEgNEXAR - AEERE
MENEER T E2EPRIRITE
BRI R B B o N B AR R A X
K B Bl = AT AR AR AT A R = B AR
EENBEZE NERENEK
k- BEEERKEZER LTS
MEELD - WHEREESIEH
N

REHEKATENTREENH
S ON LR

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Sensitivity analysis

The management consider that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances
is insignificant and no sensitivity analysis to interest rate
risk is presented.

WBERATENERAE

EUARFEFABZENSRA
BB

2022 2021
== —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
76,442 160,500
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6. TRTH »)
[B) £ B 2 &2 H 1Z

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coninuea)
[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group'’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivable, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments and bank balances. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets. Information about the Group’s credit risk
management, maximum credit risk exposures and the
related impairment assessment are summarised as below:

Trade receivables

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 days.
Debtors with balances that are more than a year past due
are requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from its customers.

The Group applies simplified approach on trade receivable
to provide for ECL. Trade receivables are group based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the aging
of outstanding balances and the industry of debtors. For
defaulted trade receivables, defined as past due more
than 90 days, management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions for
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts on
trade receivables; Details of quantitative disclosures are
set out below in this note.
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6. TRTH »)
Bl B AR EEHER

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

B (%)
EERBRAENE ()

Trade receivables (Continued) EWE Z R (&)
At 31 December 2022, trade receivables from the five RZTEZ_ZF+-_HA=+—H"
largest debtors amounting to approximately HK$1,024,000 KEAKRBEBEARNERE SRR

(2021: approximately HK$140,559,000, representing
approximately 100% (2021: 100%) of the total gross trade
receivables.

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s concentration of
credit risk by geographical location is in the PRC, which
accounted for 100% (2021: 100%) of total gross trade
receivables.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published
by external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered
to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

In respect of other receivables, deposits and prepayment,
management of the Group makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables,
deposits and prepayment based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also available reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. Except for
amounts that the Directors believe there are significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on lifetime ECL, the
Group provided impairment on the amounts that the
Directors believe there are no significant increase in credit
risk are based on 12m ECL.

A #1,0240008 0 (=T = —
£ 1 #9140,559,0005% 7T ) * 15 JE
WE SERBELHI00% (ZF
Z—%:100%) °

RZE-_—_F+=-_H=+—8"
EREES B AEBZEE
EREFRFE - LHEKESE
HHEEMI100% (2T - —F:
100% ) °
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved) 6. EMITH »)
[B)] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B @ EAREEZEHER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits (Continueqd)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
provided allowance for credit losses of approximately of
HK$128,336,000 (2021: HK$126,660,000) in respect of
other receivables, deposits and prepayments. Detail of
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

BF (%)
FERKERBERSE (&)
H W EREE ()

HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—H
IEFE AEERE UK GRE -
e MBENREFREEBER
#5#49128,336,000/8 7T ( & = —
% :126,660,0008 L) - T2
EOFBEHN AT T

AEERNFEERRERTEE
FRIA TR

Internal credit rating Description

Trade receivables

Other financial assets

A EE TR it W E 5 R HittemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
YEN HFAMBARBRE B EESHFE rHRBEEHE T EAESBEEER
~KAEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
settle in full credit-impaired
HERE EBABERIBERBEE-REULER rHESEEEHA T EARSBEERR
—KEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since  Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not

initial recognition through information developed
internally or external resources

B BRBANZENERIINPE RN IR AR
EERBRBEEM

Default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

[
=r

AEBRNEERLEEERE

Write off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

i ERETEBEARARENFBREAASERENE
AR
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

assessment:

Notes credit rating  credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL
AREEFR ABEEFE +-EARRHRARERR

[

External

Internal

6. TRTH »)

Financial assets at amortised costs
REERATENEREE

Bank balances

RiTEH

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
EtERGE e RERTE

Trade receivables
ERESER

26

25

24

B1-A1
B1-A1

N/A
TER

N/A
TER

N/A
TEH

(Note 1)
(BzH1)

(Note 2)
(FzE2)

[B) £t B e &2 H 1ZR
HF (&)

FEERRREENG (&)

TRFMRBEPEEBEN G
MAKBEREENERERR

2022 2021
—E-C —E--F
Gross Gross
carrying amount carrying amount
BEHEE BEAEE
GLCOV GO  HK$000  HK$'000
TEx  TED Ry
12m ECL
T EAEHEERE 2,319 1,820
12m ECL
T-ERBHEEEE 7019 92,808
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
SHEHEEEE (EEHE) 17579 124598 160716 258523
Lifetime ECL (Provision matrix)
PHEREEEE (ARER) 1,055 140,568
FERERZRERRAFH

e oEER
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

6. €T R »)

Bl £ E e &2 HIZER
BE (#)

EERRRBENE (&)

Note: Bt At
1) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the 1) BABEERREEMES A%
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit EFEAaAERTHEERR
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. BEER AR RS EZIEIN -
Not past due/
No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
K@,
B R mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHET
2022 —E-—F
Other receivables and deposits HAv FEWGRIE iR e 117,579 7,019 124,598
2021 —E—F
Other receivables and deposits EMERRIBERIES 160,715 92,808 253,523
2)  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified 2) BEWESER ASKEERE

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. For defaulted receivables, defined as overdue
by more than 90 days, management of the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions
for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts
on trade receivables.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers. The following table provides information about
the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables, which are
assessed on a collective basis by using provision matrix
within lifetime ECL.

6. TRTH »)

Bl £ E R EZEHIEZR
B (%)

R E R R T ()

ERAEBEERRERN —
o AEREFNBEBANKEKSE
BEPETREMNE TRIEHEH
REzHEREEEEREEM
BEBEBETIENELRE S
R EERBRHER -

2021
—E-—F
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
FUEREE EBUESERY JERSElCES LS
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Gross carrying amount BEEE
0 - 30 days past due #HI0E30H 0.7% 189 0.7% 26
91 days-2 years past due AH91E FoE 63.4% 866 61.7% 140,542
1,051 140,568

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. Due to
greater financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19
pandemic, the Group has increased the expected loss
rates in the current year as there is higher risk that a
prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit default
rates.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
provided allowance for credit losses of approximately
HK$49,273,000 (2021: approximately HK$65,640,000) in
respect of trade receivables based on the provision matrix.

EEFBEEDEREHARRF
HIMREE LR A R E A R A5
Wt HAFEE N E K AZAE N E
ARZAEEERETRARE - AR
COVID-19&Z 5B B K& /T
FETE 1 - AE BN A S EIE INIEH]
BREE REARIERHER LT
EEENREAMNESRER -

BE-_FT-_—_F+=-H=+—8H
WEFE - NEERB R DR E
WE GEARFREEBEBELY
49,273,000 T (Z T —F: 49
65,640,000/ 7T ) °

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables:

ERIE »

(B] & & )7 bz & 2 B 12 R

B (%)
FERRERERG (&)

THRIIRE 3R 5 0 5 R
1% T BB

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HESY 2 HEH
FEBE FEBER
(REERME) (EERE) @gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
As at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H 20,547 - 20,547
Changes due to financial instruments RN ZF=—F — 5 —HH#ERH
recognised as at 1 January 2021 CRIAZHME -
— Transfer to lifetime ECL -BEE>HRBEEHE
(credit-impaired) (EEWHE) (20,547) 20,547 -
— Impairment losses recognised - BHERREBE - 65,640 65,640
~ Write-off - H3H - (35) (35)
— Exchange alignment - [ 5 % - 562 562
As at 31 December 2021 RZZE-_—f+-HA=+—H - 86,714 86,714
Changes due to financial instruments R =ZF = —F— 5 — B RH
recognised as at 1 January 2022 CRMIAEHMWE
— Impairment losses recognised - BERBEBE 1 49,272 49,273
— Write-off - s - (128,643)  (128,643)
— Exchange alignment - EH R - (6,794) (6,794)
As at 31 December 2022 R-EBE-Z#+=-A=+-—-H 1 549 550
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea) 6. EMITH »)
[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Bl £ E e EZEHIEZER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) B (#)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FERKRKEBENM (&)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are ERESEREEREB2EHE
mainly due to: ZHRN:

2022
—E-=

Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
2HEPEE EHEHBEE
BEEM D) BEEMNED)

(REERME) (EERE)
HK$°000 HK$°000
FTET FEx
Further impairment made for MEBEREREKE 5 RN
credit-impaired trade receivables  {EHE— R E - 49,272
No realistic prospect of recovery of i [B] 4 2 () jig i & 5 BR 3%
trade receivables - (128,643)
2021
—ET - —%F
Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired)
2HIBHEE S HTEHEE
EEEMORD) EEEMNORD)
(REERME) (EERE)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Trade receivables with a gross HBEREE AL
carrying amount of approximately 140,603,000/ 7t 2
HK$140,603,000 defaulted and FEWE 5 R REEL
transferred to credit-impaired TEEEERE (20,547) 20,547
Further impairment made for MEEREREKE 5RNK
credit-impaired trade receivables  {FH BV — FRE - 65,640
FERERZRERRAFH
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6. RIT A &)

[B) Tt B e &2 H1ZR
HF (&)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that

are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for other receivables, deposits

fERAR R E TS ()

EHENCREERSBARAD

T

TRIRE B A A M IR 3%
e RENRERRNBEREY

and prepayments: Bk
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
12mECL  (not credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired) Total
TZ{EAR HRNEERE 20RHGEHSE
REGEFR (RMEEHE) (FEHE) o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THL THL
As at 1 January 2021 mZ2-—F-HA—-H 161 20,015 - 20,176
Changes due to financial instruments R =F=—F— f— BHRM
recognised as at 1 January 2021 PRIABENEY
~ Transfer to lifetime ECL -BREHEREREE
(creditimpaired) (EERE) - (20,015) 20,015 -
- Impairment losses recognised -BRRAESR 653 - 126,007 126,660
— Write-off - #iH - - (47 408) (47 408)
- Exchange alignment -EHEE 4 - 548 552
As at 31 December 2021 RZB_-F+-A=1+-H 818 - 99,162 99,980
Changes due to financial instruments  R=F = —F—F—A®AM
recognised as at 1 January 2022 PRTIAEHNE
- Transfer to lifetime ECL -BRZ2HRHEEER
(creditimpaired) (EERE) (746) - 746 -
- Impairment losses recognised -BRRAESE - - 128,336 128,336
- Write-off - M - - (148,063) (148,063)
- Exchange alignment -BH AR ) - (7.935) (7.937)
As at 31 December 2022 RZZ2-Zf+-A=1-H 70 - 72,206 72,316
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables,
deposits and prepayments are mainly due to:

Further impairment made for creditimpaired ~ BHEEE SR AR M ERFE

6. TRTH »)

Bl £ E e EZEHIEZER
B (%)

fERAR R E TS ()

H Al e YRR R e RIAN R
EEBEE2EHTZHN:

2022
—EC-CE

Increase  Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
(decrease) in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
in12mECL (ot credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)

t-EARS 2HRAER 2HRHER
FEER BESMOAS)  BESM(ED)
£ (ED) (REEEHE) (FERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEx TR

other receivables, deposits and R RBEFEELE-S
prepayments FIE - - 128,336
No realistic prospect of recovery of other WEImER At IR 1R R
receivables, deposits and prepayments BRIE - - (148,063)
2021
“E--fF
Increase  Increase (decrease)  Increase (decrease)
(decrease) in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
in12mECL  (not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
TZEAEH PERARE PHEHEE
FERS BEEmCAD) BEEm(RD)
B ORD) (REERME) (EERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THL
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments £ 85  (& 541208,123,000 1L 2
with a gross carrying amount of Ehkss ke RBAFE
approximately HK$208,123,000 defaulted ~ BEHTEZEERE
and transferred to credit-impaired - (20,015) 20,015
Further impairment made for the REERELMENGIE Z2
credit-impaired other receivables, REFFBEELNE-SHE
deposits and prepayments - - 126,007
No realistic prospect of recovery of other KEEENEMBKTE BER
receivables, deposits and prepayments BNE - L (47 408)
FERERZRERRAFH

e oEER
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coninuea)
[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuead)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

Weighted
average
interest rate

NETHHE
%

At 31 December 2022 AZEZZE+ZAZ+-H

Interest-bearing borrowing STERE 10
Trade payables EHESRR NATE
Accruals and other payables B ERREMENTE NATEF
Lease liabilties HEak 6.90
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6. TRTH »)
Bl B A EEHER

BE (%)
FBESER

REERBESAR ARER
ERRBESHRMANTERE
AREREGEFEERDES N
BREINAEL EITSELEREE
BMmERISAEERETE-

AEEBETENEBEREREH
BESNRESER BRRSEH
MERKRERSEER ink
BHBREeFE R ERERELS
THEEREKFRAEFEQR
EZgHE-AEENBRRE
HETHERDHESHTEREET
EERAMER  ARRE &R
RHARCREBRETIEMBHIE
RYTRACHNCARESRE M
mEREERERERNRSES

mEo

TRALAEESHABHGRE
MABMA-AXRDRESREE
RASEARERLERNRER
HHEeMABERMREAERERENF
HeEMIETESm B EN R
BERBEEEBH-

Total

On demand More than contractual
or within 1 year but less  undiscounted Carrying
one year  than 2 years cash flows amount

RERY —-F0E  HERRR
—FR (EFEBRE RERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TER TER THER
115,000 - 115,000 115,000
13,463 - 13,463 13,463
323,213 - 323,213 323,213
323 242 565 532
451,999 242 452,241 452,208
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6.

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

ERMIE »

[B) £t B e &2 H 1ZR
HF (&)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEERERE (&)
Total
Weighted ~ On demand contractual
average or within - undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year cash flows amount
BEXYE  ATARR
g & -8 ReRELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FHET
At 31 December 2021 R=2=-%+=A=F-H
Interest-bearing borrowing FEEE 10 115,000 115,000 115,000
Trade payables ERESER N/ATE 14,660 14,660 14,660
Accruals and other payables [Est B R R EENTE N/AT i F 246,362 246,362 246,362
Lease liabilities HEAE 9.38 307 307 296
376,329 376,329 376,318

[C] FAIR VALUES OF MEASUREMENTS OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Directors considers that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair
values.

(C] Z@KREZ 2 FlE

EERA/NGRAVBRMERHERD
TMEERERABMNER@ER
HRFEMEE-
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7. REVENUE 7. W=
[l] DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM [l)] XEEFESH2Z 7KW
CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS 2
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-_—_f+=-A=+-—H
IEFE

Properties Natural
investment gas

segment segment Total
MERE RAR
2 &8 28 et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FEx THET

Type of services it

Property management service VI E B R 1,273 - 1,273
Geographical markets i & ™ %

PRC # 1,273 - 1,273
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 528 T2 8 R

Over time Iy ] & 1,273 - 1,273
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TXHEHINBEFPEH RGBS I E
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in FLET I & SR IE M $TER o

the segment information.

Properties Natural
investment gas

segment segment
NERE RARR

2 8 2 H
HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT TERT

Property management service YER RS 1,273 - 1,273
Revenue from contracts with customers & F & &% 1,273 - 1,273
Leases HE 1,442 - 1,442
Total revenue Bz 2,715 - 2,715
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7. REVENUE (continvea)
(] DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM

sk )

] XEEFEXZTHK

CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS (Continuea) # (#)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 E-FE - —F+=-A=+—H
IEFE
Properties
investment  Natural gas
segment segment Total
MERE RKAR
POl DE 1BET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Type of goods or services EmEREER
Sales of construction materials $HE S MK - 789 789
Property management service MEERR®E 1,057 - 1,057
Total @t 1,057 789 1,846
Geographical markets &%
PRC H 1,057 789 1,846
Timing of revenue recognition Uy 22 2R B
A point in time IRy B - 789 789
Over time Iy AT B 1,057 - 1,057
Total “st 1,057 789 1,846

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

TXENEFPAHKEENAE

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in BRI 52 FROB AT 5 B o
the segment information.
Properties Natural
investment gas
segment segment Total
YIS E KAR
pal=l nE “aEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Sales of construction materials HEEEME - 789 789
Property management service MEEERRSE 1,057 - 1,057
Revenue from contracts with customers EF & &K & 1,057 789 1,846
Leases e 1,311 - 1,311
Total revenue = 2,368 789 3,157
AEEEZRERRAT

ZE_CFER
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7. REVENUE (continvea) 7. W&o
(Il PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR () EF&#EBEXET

CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Sales of construction materials

Revenue from sales of construction materials are
recognised at a point in time when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to the specify location. The normal credit term is
up to 30 days upon delivery.

Property management service

Under the terms of the contract, property management
service is satisfied over time. The property management
fee income are recognised throughout the respective
contract period. The normal credit term is up to 30 days
upon the payment period.

(Il TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED

TO THE REMAINING PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATION FOR CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS

Sales of construction materials

All contracts with customers are for periods of one year
or less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Property management service

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) and the expected timing of recognising
revenue are as follows:

Within one year —FUARN

More than one year but not more —FAERFUAR
than two years

More than two year and no more
than five years

MERERFLAR
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HEZEMH

HEREM B AT IR I
EENREMED DEDSK
RSB E R SR LS
EEHARERIOK-

MEEERK

REBEEVGT WEEERBR
HEEEIT-MEEEEBEAE
EREBEANHABR - EEE
SRR HRI0K -

M7 EHEZEHEEFEZ&S4

HER TEANEFHX
Z1E

HEREMH

EEFPEHAR—FHIAT-
BMINE R E LRI L 165% A
R B IARBEIEEZFRE
TEHNZXHER-

YR EE R

TREHRTEHNEE(RELHOHK
MOEH) R HER KBRS
PR T

2022 2021
—E_-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
1,273 1,057

675 1,307

263 -

2,211 2,364
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7. REVENUE (continvea)
(V] LEASES

Fo—FF A=+ —HIFE

Total revenue arising from leases

For operating lease:

Lease payments that are fixed

HE @
Z(« MK fﬂ 1=

[E 5E 2 & 3K

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of Directors (the “Board”),
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or
provided. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the

Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8

are as follows:

(a) Properties investment — generated rental income from
operating leases of Group’s investment properties in the

PRC;

(b) Natural gas - trading of natural pipelined gases and its

construction materials in the PRC; and

(c) Investment holding — investment in associates on a

geographical basis of the PRC.

W )
(\v) &

2022 2021
—s=-= T —F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FExT FTAT

1,442 1,311

TEER

MEFES([EFg) AXTELERR
HE([XBEERKE]) ) ZBAFER
DB R D EBR IR A 2 BEREFRNATR
MeiRt 2 & mak iRAGEDL - R B
SEMNF 2Ry A TEEERKE

4 5 i 28k Bl O A & 0 BRI 5%

AEms REEBEVKRELELES
SO BAEE R 2H BT

(a) MERE-AEERTELER
BEMEEEMEELENES BN

(b) RAR-—RPBERLEEBERAR

RHREBEME: R

(c) WEEER-RTEREERSDZ

B NRHRE -

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER
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~ SRR
DEHER (@)
NTRRBE_E__FR-_T_—

F+_A=+—HLFEAEEZE
BoBE D 2 WS MEEZ D

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvec) 8.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021:

Investment
holding
RELZR
HK$'000

Properties Natural
Unallocated Total
AAE &g

HK$'000 HK$'000

investment gas

ES

RRR

HK$'000  HK$'000

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZ-Z-—F+-A=t-HLFE

Segment revenue
From external customers

Segment profit
Interest income
Other income, gains and losses, net
Loss from changes in fair value
of investment properties, net
Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net of reversal
Share of results of associates
Other corporate expenses

Loss from operations
Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expenses

Loss for the year

Other segment information

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

2 HKE
RENBEP

2R

MEHRA

A MEREEFE
RENFATERDEL  BRE

BHEEBREAETHRERR

(SBEE)
ElEBENRz %A
EfERAY

REFR
BB

FRBAE R
FRRRX
ERER

RtAHas
EREEENE
% BERREIE
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TER

TER TER

TER

TER

2,715 - - - 2,715
25539 = = = 2,539
6 = = = 6

5 5 36,000 48 36,058
(3,393) = = = (3,393)
Q) (133,487) (44,120) - (177609)

= = (766) = (766)
(2,425) (180) = 197 (9,802)
(3270)  (133,662) (8,386) (7149)  (152,967)
(539) - - (75903)  (76,442)
(3,809)  (133,662) (8,386) (83,052) (229,409
(3809)  (133,662) (8,386) (83,052) (229,409
= = - (343) (343)
(9) = = = (9)
33152 18,284 27720 680 79,836
(40636)  (8,638) (479)  (408,172)  (457925)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvec) 8. DEEHR =)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2022

NTRRBE_T-__FR_FT——
ToA=Z+THLEFEASEIZEED

and 2021: (Continued) HEl D2 W REEZ DT ()
Properties Natural Investment
investment gas holdng  Unallocated Total
nERE AAR REER Al ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FET FEL TEL THL
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ-Z--F+-A=t-HLFE
Segment revenue 7 Bl
From external customers RENPEP 2,368 789 - - 3,157
Segment profit AEEF 2,008 3 - - 2,011
Interest income FEWA 3 2 - - 5
Other income, gains and losses, net ~ EfMA - UEREEFE (11,281) - 36,000 - 24719
Loss from changes in fair value of BENELTEEDELE BETF
investment properties, net (24,944) - - - (24,944)
Impairment losses recognised in respect %1% iR R ERZ ZAEFE
of property, plant and equipment (113,999) - - - (113,999)
Impairment losses under expected BEGERRREABTNRESS
credit loss model, net of reversal (k@) (1053)  (191,073) (174) - (192,300)
Share of results of associates i3 - UNE S - - (169,558) - (169,558)
Other corporate expenses EERY (5,233) (201) (8) (6,602) (12,044)
Loss from operations REFR (154,499)  (191,269) (133,740) (6,602)  (486,110)
Finance costs HBEA (2,694) - - (157,.806)  (160,500)
Loss before tax BBiAIEE (157,193)  (191,269) (133,740) (164,408) (646,610
Income tax expenses FERES - - - - -
Loss for the year RS (157193)  (191269)  (133740)  (164408)  (646,610)
Other segment information EftpHER
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE - - - (322) (322)
Depreciation of property, plant nE BEREEAE
and equipment (1) (8) - - 9)
Segment assets NBEE 38728 164,393 36,659 404 240,184
Segment liabilities PR (42.912) (9,193) (479) (329940)  (382,524)
FERERZRERRAFH

ZE_CFER
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvec) 8. DEEHR =)

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year
(2021: Nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit (loss). The
segment profit (loss) represents the result generated from
each segment with allocation of (i) general and administrative
expenses, selling and distribution costs under the heading of
other corporate expenses; (i) share of results of associates; (iii)
interest income; and (iv) compensation income and other sundry
income under the heading of other income, gains and losses,
net; loss from changes in fair value of investment properties,
net; impairment losses recognised in respect of property, plant
and equipment; and impairment losses under expected credit
loss model, net of reversal. This is the measure reported to
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance.

DWW BETIRBIIBEFL 2 REF
AW ESHEEE (T —F ) -

Ao Mz RRELAEB 2 &
AAREAER D BRRIBIEA 2],
2 &b A (B8R KA L R - 2 &P
MOEB)IES DR MELL D BECE A
THREZEE: () BRITBAX A
D EFTIA T HE kD KA (i)
FEIEEE 2 R Al 2 4 ()M B H A
Ko (iv)EE B A R E A RAT 2 B 5%
BRN REMEATEEHELEZ
EBERFE LYE BERREER

HEEE: NFEREEEEEAET
FORERBE (MEED) -ZAE7 R
DRAEBZLERRERSE URER
DR BRFFE T EAELIRTE

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and HEZSIMBERBERDHBESEERM
allocating resources between segments, all assets and liabilities EMEEERBEHAIRENZR
are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate DE(EBERBERIN)

assets and liabilities.

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the customers. Information
about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from

e B8 57 =5
AREBNRPRELSER-
BREAEBKRBINSEEWFZHE R

BEEFPUEZI -BERAAKEERY
BENENREENHEUERY -

Non-current assets

external customers

REIEBEF R K= IRBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—=E_— —E - —F —_E_-_ —EFE-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET FHET
The PRC i 2,715 3,157 24,702 30,925
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvec)

DEER (=)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS TEEFZEHN
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years BEFERASERKAI0%A LB
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as KEEPOWALT :
follows:
2021
—EF -5
HK$'000
FHET
Customer A Natural gas business - 789
BEFPA RIARET
Customer B Properties Investment business 420 369
%78 MEREE
Customer C Properties Investment business 316 327
wPC MEREES
Customer D Properties Investment business 298 N/A*
%F~D ES S E i E R
Customer E Properties Investment business 336 -
EFE MEREER
* Less than 10% of the Group's total revenue xR EELEKABI10%
9. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 9. Hb A -WmKREE
2021
—ET-—F
HK$'000
FHET
Interest income on bank deposits RITERZFEHA 6 5
Compensation income arising from profit mAMERBERMEESZ
guarantee realisation (Note (i) ER B (BEEG)) 36,000 36,000
Loss arising from litigation (Note (ii)) SFRAE AR EIE (M FEG)) - (11,281)
Others HAh 58 -
36,064 24,724
FEEZRERRAAE

e oEER
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9. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

(Continued)

Notes:

()

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, as Forward
Investment (PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”)
suffered operating loss and no dividend have been declared, the
Return Undertaking (as detailed and defined in Note 23(i)) was
exercised. As such, a compensation income from the Guarantors
(defined in Note 23(i)) of HK$36,000,000 (2021: HK$36,000,000)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

According to the court judgement (2019) Jin 0116 Min Chu
No0.4718 dated 10 March 2021, Tianjin Binhai New Area People’s
Court has forced Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd.
(“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group, to repay the outstanding construction expenses with the
interests and other related expenses amounted to approximately
RMB9,251,000, RMB2,235,000 and RMB107,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$11,153,000, HK$2,694,000 and HK$128,000))
respectively.
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HE-_Z-_—_Fr-_F=-—F+=
A=Z+—RLFE AREMEE
(hFBEDBERAR ([FMEE])EST
KEBEBRAYTES KRS  BHEASE
(R M sE23() et R R ) BT -
I REERA (FE&ER23()) B E
I A36,000,0008 70 (=T = —4F:
36,000,000/ 7 ) R A 1B R AER -

BERPA-Z-—F=F+B8ZE
B )5k (2019) 320116 R ¥]47185% - X
EMRSHEARAREH ERAE
EHFEE2EMBARKEENREAN
HEARAR ([REBENR])EE
REBEER S ANAE & E b 4B B
¥ 2B BH A AR 251,0007T
A2 235 0007T M AR #107,0007T
(# % R 411,153,000 7T ~ 2,694,000
77T % 128,000/ 7T ) ©
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10. FINANCE COSTS

10. 81 7§ R A

Default interest on interest-bearing FHEBR IR FE

borrowing

Redemption premium on interest-bearing i BfER 2 EE R E
borrowing

Interest on lease liabilities HEARBEZNE

Interest on litigation liabilities FABEZHE

(as detailed in Note 9(iii))

11. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER
EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET
OF REVERSAL

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHET
46,293 67,314
29,590 90,450

21 42

538 2,694

76,442 160,500

M. BHREEFEENXENN
BEEE (HRER)

Impairment losses recognised on:
— Trade receivables - FEWE SRR
— Other receivables, deposits and

prepayment TR RIE

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 6(b).

FLA N B IR MR H R E 1R

- Hit IR e M

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
49,273 65,640
128,336 126,660
177,609 192,300
BB G M B SR M sE6(b) °
HEERREHRAH

ZEROTEER
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 12. TEHIER

2021

—E-—F

HK$'000

FHET

Current tax B HA % 18 - -
Deferred tax EEBIIE

Current year KFEE - -

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax
of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in, nor
deriving from Hong Kong for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profit arising in or derived from
PRC for both years.
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& & 1% & EE 8/ H2,000,0007% 7T )
5t FE R TR0 ) 45 1%28.25% = Uk & 7 F
1§84 B 2,000,000/ JT &9 i 51 FE =R
TR F i 1Z16. 5% EULE B FIE T o
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) W BRG] o BB QR 5 R E
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continuec)

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

as follows:

Loss before tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax

rate of 16.5% (2021:16.5%)
Tax effect of share of results of associates
Tax effect of expenses not deductible

for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable

for tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Utilisation of tax loss not recognised

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdiction

Income tax expenses

BRELATE R

BN E165% (—Z T = —4:
16.5% ) 5t HE W IE
JEMREE N BB 2T
TR0 A 2 2 B 5 4

SR

=275
A=

[

I

BARRBA Z RGTE

RERZBEBBORETE
KR EBABIANA

R AR RS B AR
HETRAZHE

Fri8wHiBx

12. RSB 2

AEEHGEABBRTHNMEHFAXHE
BRI AI BB HRNT

2021

T —F

HK$'000

FET
(229,409) (646,610)
(37,852) (106,691)
126 27,977
43,660 84,588
(5,942) (5,941)
184 225
(187) (139)
1 (19)
AEEEZRERRAT

ZE_CFER
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Az it ¥ — |
13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. BRELAIES 18
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting): BREIRIEIBE Mk (FFA) THSIE:
2021
—FET -5
HK$'000
FET
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments EINAK(BREEHE
(Note 14)): (FIzE14) ) -
— salaries, allowances and benefits in kind -5¢ mREYF G 3,387 3,314
— retirement benefits scheme contributions - RRENET BT 95 203
Total staff costs S TRAERR 3,482 3,517
Auditor's remuneration ZEEN N 2 950 1,770
Depreciation of right-of-use assets HREEEITE 343 322
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% = LR EHITE 9 9
Legal and professional fee EERBES 310 481
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAEFAXHNEERR - 786
Gross rental income from investment properties KB EWE 7 HE
LONGE: (1,442) (1,311)
Less: Direct operating expenses from investment & : £ AEAEH WA 2
properties that generated rental income wEWHE B
during the year RS 176 360
(1,266) (951)
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14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND CHIEF 14 ESERESTBRAEME
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the years, EENEETBRAEBEZTFANESRIE
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong EALEMRAREERAGH 2HE
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BREOT:

Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit

Directors’  and benefits scheme
Fees inkind contribution Total

e wm RIKEH
EsHE REVAR atEIAtR &t
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000

TR TR TR TR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-_—_F+-A=+-HLEE
Executive directors: HTES:
Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and Chief e (FERTHAER)

Executive Officer) (Resigned on (R-ZBE-ZFNA+/HEF)

18 September 2023) = = = =
Ye De Chao (*Mr. Ye”) E3-F (R 3] = = = =
Lu Yi (Appointed as executive director EW(R=ZF-—F/\A+-HEZ

on 12 August 2021 and Chairman BRTEFRR-_F_=F

on 1 August 2023) NA—AEZEEFE) - - = =
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:

He Jin Geng ek 120 - - 120
Yu Hong Gao B 120 - - 120
Chen Yang 922 120 - - 120
360 - - 360

Total =i 360 - - 360
FERERZRERRAFH
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14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND CHIEF 14 ESERESTBRAEME

EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continuea) ()
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
Directors’  and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contribution Total

Fo RN Rl
Bz REDME SRR CE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT TET THT

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_E-_-5+-A=1t-HLEE

Executive directors: YTES:

Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and Chief WM (L EFITHE)

Executive Officer) - - - -
Mr. Ye Ep i - - - -
Lu Yi (Appointed as executive director EW (R=-F-—F A+ -HEZF

on 12 August 2021 and Chairman AHTEERR-F-=%F

on 1 August 2023) NA—REZFEFE) - - - -
Ji Xu Dong (Resigned on 12 August 2021) FRR(R=FE=—F/|f1TZHEH) - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHITES:

He Jin Geng A&k 120 - - 120

Yu Hong Gao B 120 - - 120

Chen Yang R 120 - - 120

360 - - 360

Total a5t 360 - - 360

Notes: B 5 -

(a)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their (@) UNEHRITEENMEIBERETEERE
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the RRBRAEBEEH FIRHAIR -
Company and the Group.

(b)  The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown (b) AEBIIERMITEENMS IERE
above were for their services as Directors. EHEEE EREMR -
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14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continveq)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)  No chief executive of the Company was appointed for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

(d)  There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

(e) During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

Except for those disclosed in material related party transactions
in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of
the Company was a party and in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included three (2021: three) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining two (2021: two) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

14 EERESTHRAEME
(%)

BisE: (&)

(c) HEZZT-_—_F+ZA=+—HKZ=
T+ -_RA=+—HIEE &
BANRESITHRABEZT-

(d BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HEKZ=
E-—F+-_A=+—BIEE #
BEENESTBRABRERFRER
EAMMES L

(e) HE-ZT-_—_FRZTF-_—F+=A
=+-—RALEFE AEBTERNES
SRR E LAE ARSI ZE AR
S @R IS 2 S B sk 1E A BB

f&e

BRIR & M RS R M R3O AR E A
IRGTFABEBEIHI REREAF
EEMBREEFEEARRHARA
ZEFAMERBREEALTRESER
KEZRFEEEAN @2 AR E XA
MEMR 5 ZHEREH -

TfuseFmMES

FAREE A GEaTMNEERFE =4
(ZE=Z—F:=ZR)EF HFHMFE
R LR A SRR 14 - 2 T
ZB(ZEZ—F - MAB)FRARAESH
ERITHRABN &S HMES 2 e
BT

15

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

e MR REYN G
BB SIS

2022 2021
—E-— T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
2,155 2,061

36 36

2,191 2,097
AEEEZRERRAT

ZE_CFER
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15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continueq)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is

15. AU B S HMES »)

BT T AT HBEMNIFES &S H
BEAZIT

as follows:
Number of employees
EEAH
2021
—E-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 1
2 2
16. DIVIDENDS 16. R 2

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (2021: Nil).

17.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

HE-_T-—#+-_A=+—HIFE
A 4 [A) AR /2 @) 3 38 AR A% BT B o R %
f% & M B S R AR IR IR A% B
(ZEZ—F:8|)-

17. SR EE
ARRHEAANBEERERNRESER
TR T ISR & -

2021

HK$'000
TAET

=111}

Loss for the year attributable to owners FA:
of the Company for the purpose of PN
basic and diluted loss per share

S
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17.LOSS PER SHARE (continuea)

17. Bl EE #)

(restated
(R

Number of shares BMHEE

st

Weighted average number of ordinary ARETEEREARREHEEEDN

shares for the purpose of basic and TR I
diluted loss per share

No diluted loss per share for both years ended 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2021 were presented as there were
no potential ordinary shares in issue for both years ended 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share has been adjusted
for the share consolidation on 26 January 2022.

The denominator for the purpose of calculating basic and
diluted loss per share in 2021 has been restated to reflect
the effect of share consolidation during the year ended 31
December 2022,

426,991 426,991

HREE-_T-__F+-A=+—8K
—E - F+-_A=t+—BLEFEYE
BEEBETERR QUMY EE—
S F+ZA=F+—HERZEZ—F
+ZA=+—BLEFENSREBEEE

8o

BEREA R R AT S EEBR
BPOEER-E-—F—A=+AR
PARID 2GR B

HE - —EEREAREEEE
FTASEBEZEM IWrkMEE T —
FH+_A=Z+—BUEFERMHEHZY
@,

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BEREE

Construction Plant and Leasehold Office Motor Furniture
inprogress  Pipelines  Building  machinery improvements  equipment vehicles  and fixtures Total
HRIR B B: RERESE RENERE  BOERG fE  GRRZE szt
HKS000  HKS000  HK§000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000
FiEn FiEn Fihn TiEn T Fihn TR Fin T
COsT B
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ-%-F-R 213359 107 3435 4868 204 692 73 339 203077
Written-off s - (107) (3,439) (4,868) (204) (614) (73) (339) (9,640)
Exchange alignment EfRE 4238 - - - - - - - 4238
At 31 December 2021 RZBZ-§+-A=1-H 217597 - - - - 8 - - 217675
Bxchange alignment L (17,131) - - - - - - - (17,131)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-ZF+ZA=1-A 200,466 - - - - 78 - - 200,544
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Rt EREE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ-%-F-H 102,39 107 3435 4,868 204 674 73 339 112,096
Provided for the year TEERE - - - - - 9 - - 9
Written-off i - (107) (3,439) (4,868) (204) (614) (73) (339) (9,640)
Impairment loss recognised in RERETAAESE (i)
profit or loss (Note 22) 113999 - - - - - - - 113,999
Exchange alignment BEHE 1202 - - - - - - - 1,202
At 31 December 2021 RZZZ-§+Zf=1-H 217597 - - - - 69 - - 217,666
Provided for the year T5EERE - - - - - 9 - - 9
Exchange alignment EiEE (17,131) - - - - - - - (17,131)
At 31 December 2022 WZE-ZE+ZfA=1-H 200,466 - - - - 78 - - 200,544
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 RZB-Z£+ZR=t-8 = = = = = = = = =
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F+ZA=1-H - - - - - 9 - - 9
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BB K& @)

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

tamE -BEAEREERER (EZ2TRE
BROMN IA T FRABREEFE

Pipelines 3'/:% BB 3%
Building 2 - 33'/s% or over the lease term, gF 2 — 33"/s% 5k 1% 78 &f
if shorter (ABRE & AE)
Plant and machinery 10 - 20% TR Kot 83 10 - 20%
Leasehold improvements Over the lease term HEMHEEE bzt
Office equipment 10 - 20% WRNERME 10 - 20%
Motor vehicles 10 - 20% E 10 - 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10 - 20% RMREE 10 - 20%

The carrying value of land under construction in progress was
held under medium-term lease in the PRC.

Certain properties under construction were pledged to secure
a loan granted to an independent third party in the sum
of approximately HK$90,248,000 (2021: HK$97,960,000)
(equivalent to RMB80,000,000 (2021: RMB80,000,000)). The
carrying amount of the pledged properties were HK$Nil (2021:
HK$NIl) as at 31 December 2022. Further details are set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

TR REE/N S BT B
HOFHE-

ETEEMEEER EART 28
3% = 5 #AEE4990,248,0008 T (= &
— —%:97,960,0008 7T) (HERBA
K #80,000,000t (ZE = —F: AR
#80,000,0007) ) EFMER - KR ZF
ZZF+ZA=+—H HEMENE
AEASHET(ZT_—F :T#x)-
E—FHBEHNGE T BHREMFE36 -

AEEZREFRAA
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # = —

E-_—Ff_A=+—HIFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. FRAEEE
Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2021 R=-ZB-—-%—H—H
Carrying amount FREE 590
Depreciation charge HEER (822)
At 31 December 2021 R-B--H+-A=+—H
Carrying amount REE 268
Additions NE 602
Depreciation charge nEER (343)
At 31 December 2022 R=-B--%+=ZA=+—H
Carrying amount IREE 527
2021
—ET-—F
HK$'000
FHET
Total cash outflow for leases HERESMLERE 387 369
For both years, the Group leases leasehold offices for its REMEN AEBEHEEHEENAE

operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of

2 years (2021:

2 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an

individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In

determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-

cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract

and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$532,000 (2021:
HK$296,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets

of approximately HK$527,000 (2021:

HK$268,000) at 31

December 2022. The lease agreements do not impose any

covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets

that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # =

TE - —Ff A=+ —HIFFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. REWE
Investment
properties
REWE
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H 53,782
Decrease in fair value recognised RIBR RN A FERD
in the profit and loss (24,944)
Exchange alignment b 58 978
At 31 December 2021 RZZE_—F+-A=+—H 29,816
Decrease in fair value recognised RIEBRERH A TFERD
in the profit and loss (3,393)
Exchange alignment ME W (2,248)
At 31 December 2022 RZZE_—_F+-A=+—H 24,175
2022 2021
—E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net unrealised loss on property STABRZYMEER
revaluation included in profit or loss REEEHEFE (3,393) (24,944)

R —_Fk_ZT-_—F+_HA
—+—B FBEREWEHMNARATE K
RABREREHERA -

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all the investment properties
are located and leased in the PRC held under medium-term
lease.

AEEZREFRAA
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea) 20. REWZE =)

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or
lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

The Group leases out various industrial properties under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 5 years (2021: 1 to 5
years).

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties and
land use right, the Group engages third party qualified valuer
to perform the valuation. The Directors work closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The fair value
of all of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December
2022 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out on the respective dates by Valtech Valuation Advisory
Limited (“Valtech”) (2021: Valtech), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

Valuations of its industrial properties in PRC is based on
an estimate of current cost of replacement of the buildings/
improvements less allowance for physical deterioration and all
relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.

The market value of land use right assuming sale of the lands
in its existing state by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market. Comparison
is based on the considerations realised on actual transactions
of comparable lands. Comparable lands with similar sizes,
characters and locations are analyzed and carefully weighed
against all respective advantage and disadvantage of each land
in order to arrive at fair comparison of value.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the investment properties as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and input
used):
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea) 20. REWZE =)

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the HETREMEL A TFER KEMES
highest and best use of investment properties is their current EakREARAEERRASGE-
use.
Investment properties Fair value  Valuation Significant unobservable
held by the Group Fair value hierarchy  technique inputs Sensitivity
EERBERENE AT AYEER fHEHE EXFAUBRBAER HBE
2022 2021
ZECCE ek
HK$’000 HK$'000
THRT FAT
Investment properties 17,237 22,053 Level 3 Depreciated Replacement unit cost rate of A significant increase in unit
located in the PRC F=R replacement RMB1,327/m? cost rate used would result in
- industrial building cost approach (2021: RMB1,564/m?) significant increase in fair
URPERRENE FEXEE BEEEEGTHIARK 32T value, and vice versa
-I%8F RAE (Z2--F: MAEEAREREERATE
SFH AR 5647) RIEZM R2H A
Land use right located 6,938 7,763 Level 3 Direct comparison ~ Market unit rate RMB423/m? A significant increase in market
in the PRC F=R approach (2021: RMB43/6m?) unit rate used would result in
AL B 0 1t A BEENET TEASTAIRARKLT significant increase in fair value,
(ZZ=—-%: and vice versa
SFRKARS436T) FATEAREREERATE
RIEZM K2R
The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value ANFEAENDABZPRAFEBH -F
hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during POIE A 58 = A s A sk it -
the year.
The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non- R AT H5EE A8 4 7 B 8 R 2R S K FE Uk
cancellable operating leases are as follows: HEe@EIT:
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
No later than 1 year —FR 826 1,265
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years —FIRERFA 376 611
1,202 1,876
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the investment HE_T-_—_F+-A=+—HILHF
properties are all located in the PRC and have lease periods E-mREMEAMRPE - BHEEDRS
less than 5 years (2021: 5 years). F(ZEZ—F:55F)-
FEEZRERRAAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_A=+—HI FF

21. GOODWILL 21. 8
2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FET
Cost 5%
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BRERT+TZHA=+—H 79,909 79,909
Accumulated impairment losses ZItREEE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+ZHA=+—H 79,909 79,909
Carrying amounts SREE
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H - -

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill was allocated
to two cash-generating units under the properties investment

segment, as follows:

Properties Investment Segment

Gross amount #xE

Less: Accumulated & : R REFE
impairment
losses

Net carrying amount BRE F{E
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BRENAME BEROEEMER
BB THmMERSEELEL T

MEREDH
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics
Success Take Limited Company Limited
Success Take Limited REREYRBERAA
2021 2021
T —F T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
27,118 27,118 52,791 52,791
(27,118) (27,118) (52,791) (52,791)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

22,

23.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS INCLUDED IN
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The recoverable amount of the construction in progress included
in property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of HK$Nil
(2021: HK$NIl), within the properties investment segment, is
estimated individually.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2021, on 30
March 2022, X;Em k& A KAPT (Tianjin Nankai District
People’s Court*) made a judgement (the “Judgement”) that
amongst other things, the Borrower (as defined in Note 36)
shall compensate XE¥WEET OZEFHHER QT (Tianjin
Product Import & Export Trading Co., Ltd.*) (“Tianjin Trading”),
being a party which the Lender has transferred its interest
in the Loan (as defined in Note 36) to Tianjin Trading. If the
Borrower fail to compensate Tianjin Tarding, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan
shall bear the shortfall amount by the proceed from sale of
the Tianjin Properties (as defined in Note 36). As a result, the
Tianjin Properties were fully impaired and impairment loss of
approximately HK$113,919,000 was recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

22. BE

FTAYE R R E A TE
ZLE

HAME - BERRRNEEEADS
F(—E-—F EER)NERIRE
(R R A S ER) T WE & F 7T
EE -

BE-_ZE-_-+=-A=+—H
ILEE

RZE-——F+_A=+—HLLFE
ZER-E-_—_F=ZA=1+H KEW
MR AREREDHR(THR])
Hb g EBHRA(EE RWFE36)E
WEXEYEEROZSERQA (A
BEFHEHZERZER(EERWE
36)Eme—) ([REES]) o fwfE
HKAKREFEREEZE S REENR
AUHEREYE (EERME36) 2
FriSsRIBAEETR - E - REWHETE
SURE - R B B E £9113,919,000/% 7T
REBE_ZT-_—F+ZA=1+—81F
FEWHR-

Unlisted investment, at cost

Share of post-acquisition losses JE(R U 14 B8
Share of other comprehensive income FEEEM 2K
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H

BRAFTEZIFLTIRE

23. NI E ARl 2=

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THExT FHET

354,124 354,124
(368,890) (368,123)

14,766 14,831

- 832

FERERZRERRAFH

ZE_CFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvec)

23. REFERNT 2R 8)

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting R EHRAEEBERTNFEN
period are as follow: N
Place of incorporation Proportion of Proportion of
and principal place ownership interest voting power
Name of operation held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
T B 3L i B R
%8 TEEEHY AEBHEREZLA  AEBEERRAZLA  IDER
2022 2021 2022 2021
= TR el T
Direct associate
HEEBENR
Forward Investment Hong Kong 40% 40% 40% 40%  Investment holding
ZHRE & REZR
Indirect associate
BEHENT
Nanjing Taihe Yingke Trading The PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Property development
Group Company Limited* and property
(Formerly known as Nanjing Taihe investment
Yingke Property Company Limited*)
ERFENANEEEEERAT e NERERDERE

(AR ENENESXER )

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s interests in
associates represent 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
and its subsidiary (together, the “Forward Investment Group”).

Details of Forward Investment are as follows:

(i)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
subscription agreement to subscribe approximately 40%
equity interests in Forward Investment (the “Subscription”).
The Subscription was completed on 10 December 2012.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Mr. Ye, one of
the Directors, and the original beneficial owner of Forward
Investment (collectively referred to as the “Guarantors”)
jointly and severally guaranteed the dividend income
distributed by Forward Investment to the Group. The
Guarantors will provide compensation income to the
Group if the dividend income from Forward Investment is
lower than HK$36,000,000 (12% of the consideration of
the Subscription) per annum (the “Return Undertaking”).
The guarantee will be valid from the completion date (10
December 2012) of the Subscription and up to the Group
ceases to be a shareholder of Forward Investment. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the compensation
income of HK$36,000,000 (2021: HK$36,000,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

RZEZZFR_FT=—F+=A8
=+t R AEERBERRZEDS
EREMEEREWB AR ([FMEK
BEE]) Z240%AHE -

FRANREFHBWT:

i), RZE——FALA=-++tH &K
Nal—REENMBRAREERRE
BREARG Y —DREREIUR
BRI E 2 H40% M ([REE
FH]) REFHEER_ZT—=
F+-A+HZRK-

RIEZREDSR EE2 %04
EEMEEZRERER A (5
WA TERAL XR R ERER
FMEERAEBR DK 2B U
AT MK ERBZFERE
g A K 736,000,000 7T (2 88
FHEHREZ12%)  ERABR
AEBEREBE WA ([ERE
#) ZERBERBEZETERTK
A (—E——&#+=-_A+A8)
REEASETHARTNMEER
RIFHHEES -REz—_2 ==
FH+_A=+—HItFE @&
I A36,000,0008 7T ( ZF = —
£ :36,000,000/8 ) ERGZREE
mEPIER

*  For [dentification purposes only.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
1 82 Annual Report 2022

* EHAS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # = —

E-—Ff-A=+—HIFE

23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvec)

(ii)

(il

In accordance with JTEZEE + & FBE K (2019) 1658
X (the Jiangning Land Resources Preliminary Review
Letter (2019) Document No. 16*) issued on 11 November
2019, MRME T &ERBILEDB (Jiangning Branch of
Nanjing Department of Land and Resources®) approved
the project scope of ‘MR TIZEES4 ILIGELL T
2 (Phase Il Project of Jinniushan Supercharging Station*)
in Jiangning District, Nanjing Jiangsu Province, the PRC
(the “Jinniushan Project”)”. The project scope includes
the land under development (the “Guli Project”) held by
the Forward Investment Group located in Guli community
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, in order for the
Jinniushan Project to proceed, AEHEERZEE (Guli
Community Residents Committee*) (“Guli Committee”)
entered into a compensation agreement with & R %
MEMEXARLQA
Company Limited*) (“Nanjing Taihe”),
subsidiary of Forward Investment, pursuant to which Guli

(Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property
a wholly-owned

Committee offer to compensate Nanjing Taihe for the land
resumption (the “Land Resumption”) for approximately
RMB18,619,000 and Nanjing Taihe accepted the offer.
Therefore, Naning Taihe recognised a loss on disposal of
construction in progress included in property, plant and
equipment amounted to approximately HK$121,161,000
resulted from the Land Resumption during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Forward
Investment Group is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements.

23. REFERNTI 2R (8)

(i)

(il

BERZZTE—NF+—A+—H
ﬁ%%i%!iéﬁ%@@m%
1R FERMETEIRBIE
SR ETPEIIHEEmATILE
BRe4ERE IR ([£4
mﬁanmﬁaﬁﬁoﬁaﬁﬁ
BREUNPEIHEERMITIE
EABHERRARESEEFEE
WFER T ([RRIER]) -

HE-_ZT-—F+=-A=+—H
IEFE - AESFILEBBNE
T RBEHERRZES ([AR
ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁmi£WF
ARAEREMANBEERRA
(FREM)ET L FEH® ﬁ
b B E AR E i ([ £
Yem ) mE R RARERELNA
R #18,619,0007T ' ® = 2= Al
XEE-BE mRENMRER
ZE—F+ZA=F+—HI#F
EHERBIHREELENLER
BEIR(BEME -BELEE)
E51849121,161,000%& T

BREFEMERERENM K ERH
ZEINMT - A THBERBER
TREBZEVHREERRERD
BERRPBHRRPBETNEE -

ZEBERAYESA T HERE
R RS R ETT R EIE

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER
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23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea) 23. REtE N 2R ()
(i) (Continued) iy (#&)
Forward Investment Group FEMREEE
2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FHET
Non-current assets ERBBEE 6,068 6,869
Current assets mEEE 32,365 112,550
Current liabilities neBE (99,367) (117,340)
Net (liabilities) assets (AEFH)AETE (60,934) 2,079
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REEBREMIEEEED
interest in Forward Investment Group Ffr 75 #& e 71 40% 40%
The Group's share of net assets of AEEEEEMEEEE
Forward investment Group BEFE - 832
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Revenue & - 104
Loss for the year FAEBE (45,820) (423,893)
Other comprehensive (expense) income  H b2 (52 ) Yz (17,193) 8,202
Total comprehensive expenses PHEMZAHE (63,013) (415,691)
Dividend received by the Group A& EELAY AR B - -
The unrecognised share of loss of RIERIEREE R EH
associates for the year FAEE 17,561 -
Cumulative unrecognised share of RIERFEREE R ER
loss of associates RETiEE 17,561 -
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

24. FEWWE 5 BRFX

2021

HK$'000
TAET

FEYE 5 AR
B EEERRE

Trade receivables

Less: Allowance for credit losses
Trade receivables, net JEUNE S IR FUF R
As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with

customers amounted to approximately HK$117,752,000, net of
allowance for credit loss of approximately HK$20,547,000.

The Group generally allowed an average credit period due
within 30 days to its trade debtors. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses,
presented based on the invoice date (or date of revenue
recognition, if earlier).

1,055 140,568
(550) (86,714)

505 53,854

RZIE-—F—A—H KERFAH
B FEU B 5 B 4 A117,752,00008 TT »
1= BB 18 B 5 4920,547,000/8 7T ©

AN B — A BLIE W E 5 BR FUR T F 1930
AOEEH AEEWERZSERE
EAMERR - ENEEAM (Hkm
BRAH UREEABE)ZHIHLEN
BREEBBBEZENEZER KR
DATUAR ©

2021

T —F
HK$'000
FHET

0 to 30 days
Over 90 days

0%30H
390 H

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$317,000 (2021: HK$53,828,000)
which are past due as at the reporting date.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

188 26
317 53,854

505 53,828

RZEZZF+ZHA=1+—H AR
EEEWESERERAEERELY
317,000 7t ( ==& = — £ : 53,854,000
FETT) MERS RS B B e -

e E Z RSB EFENH BN G
B1 75 R M 5E6(b)

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER
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25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

25. Ht BRI E R TR

o
PREPAYMENTS NE7E]
2021
—E-—F
Notes HK$'000
Bt E FHET
Deposits i 123 123
Prepayments AR FIE (i 49,241 196,529
Other receivables A JiE W 5k I8 3,234 20,871
Compensation income receivable B # B U A (ii) 72,000 36,000
124,598 253,523
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (72,316) (99,980)
52,282 153,543
Notes: MY5E -

(i) The amount represented trade deposits paid for construction
materials. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the delivery time for
the construction materials has been delayed, the Group and the
suppliers reached consents to refund the trade deposit paid by
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020.

(i) The amount represented compensation income from the
Guarantors, details of which has been set out in Notes 23 and 37
to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables, deposits
and prepayments are set out in Note 6(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-
term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short-term
cash commitments, which carry interest at market rates range
from 0.01% to 0.35% (2021: 0.01% to 0.35%).

Included in the cash and cash equivalents are the following
amounts which are subject to foreign exchange control
regulations and not freely transferable:

() ZEeBARBEMBINNESIZE
£ - MNCOVID-19Z 15 - BEM B
RNEHEEE AL EEEERR
BREANEEHEE T -ZEE+_-A
T+ HUEFEEINMESES -

(i) ZESHEEXRABERANHERA A
BHBIHNGEE T ERERM F23%
37 °

H e OE e RIEN SR RVERT

ERFBHNGEE P REM E6(b)

26 RERBFESEEY

Re RSBV IEE BT RS
T BEmEASLE RN & &IE
EUNF0.01%E035% (—F - —4F:
0.01%%0.35% ) 2 T S H| E5F B o

RBekREFEVERNATERE B2
BTINERGDER AR B REE:

/!

HK$'000
TAET

Amounts denominated in RMB UAREGEN SR

Details - of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out
in Note 6(b).
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[=v:} =%
27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. BERE S RN
2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHET
Trade payables FETE SRR 13,463 14,660
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented UTAEREZHBMEINENE SR
based on the invoice date: K2 BRER DT -
2022 2021
—=E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Over 90 days H#E90H 13,463 14,660
The average credit period granted by suppliers is 30 days. HERE T FEEEERRI0A -
A =%
28. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. Bt ERA R HMWEARIE
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Amounts due to associates (Note (a)) FETESE & A R EkIE (KY5E(a)) 2,761 2,863
Accruals and other payables (Note (b))  FE&TE A & E b &~ Z0UE
(KiEE(b)) 302,925 224,084
Litigation liabilities (Note 9(ii)) FABE (MIEE9(i)) 13,600 14,196
Amount due to a substantial shareholder T —& £ B R 18
(Note (c)) (MF5E(c)) 3,927 5,219
323,213 246,362
FERERZRERRAFH

“g——zzy 187
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28. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)
Notes:

(a) The amounts due to associates were unsecured, non-interest
bearing and have no fixed terms of repayments.

(b) As at 31 December 2022, included in accruals and
other payables of approximately HK$151,257,000 (2021:
HK$104,964,000) and HK$120,040,000 (2021: HK$90,450,000)
represented the interest payables and redemption premium
payable payable in relation to the HK$115 million interest-bearing
borrowing (Note 29).

(c) Amount due to a substantial shareholder was unsecured, non-
interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayments.

29.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWING

28. EstE AR M E(S FIE

(%)
GER

(a) ENBERRRBAERE 2ER

E T ERE

by RZFTEZZ_F+Z_A=+—8"
AABEGERAREMENRIERN
#9151,257,0008 7L (=T = — 4 :
104,964,000/% 7t.) % 120,040,000/% 7T
(ZZF = —%:90,450,000/8 L) H
#3115,000,0007% JT &1 B f& 5% &9 & 15 7
B REMEERE (H529) -

(c) MN—RX2RRFEA/EER 2
BN B &R

29. st B fE

Secured borrowing EEREE
The carrying amount of above secured
borrowing contain a repayment
on demand clause
(shown under current liabilities):
— Within one year - —FR

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the borrowing were secured
by pledged shares of the Company held by Mr. Ye, one of the
Directors, pledged shares of related companies, in which Mr.
Ye is the beneficial shareholder, pledged deposit and personal
guarantee by Mr. Ye.

The interest-bearing borrowing was expired during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the interest-
bearing borrowing is carried default interest at 20% per annum
with redemption premium result in an internal rate of return of
20%; from the borrowing utilisation date to the date when the
Company:fully repaid the borrowing.
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PA_E 8B 12 2 SREE R
BERMEEZREE
(RRBEETIIR)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHET
115,000 115,000
115,000 115,000

RZEZZFR_F_—F+=H
=t+t—H (EEREE—E¥L4ERE
WARAFIEEKFRG REEEREES
REMBEAF ZEERRMD  EHeE
1R R S A R (B A BRI o

BE-—Z-—hE+-_A=+—AiL%
iR ARAT IR o

REE_E-_—FR_F-__F+=H
=+ —HIEFE T EERIT20%H F
MEFEHRFE -MEEERE B
BEAEBRERABPEEARRBREE
B E BB REE K B20% °
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

31

32

30.

HEE&E

Lease liabilities payable: FENHEEE:
Within one year —FR
Within a period of more than one year —F LN BT BAMRFE

but not exceeding two years

Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months shown under current
liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12 months R IEREN B E T 5/~ 21218 A

shown under non-current liabilities ZEIBMEENSE
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is
6.90% t0 9.38% (2021: 9.38%).

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unused estimated tax
losses of approximately HK$25,248,000 (2021: HK$25,265,000)
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. The unused
estimated tax losses could be carried forward indefinitely
except for the tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately
HK$20,022,000 (2021: HK$20,039,000) that will expire in five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“‘MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs capped at HK$1,500
(2021: HK$1,500) per month to MPF Scheme in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

31.

32.

B R RE R E TR 21218 A
NEREEN

2021

—E-—F

HK$'000

FHET

296 296
236 -
532 296
(296) (296)
236 -

BARNHEaREBZIBEEHRFEE6.90%
%£938% (ZE-—%:938%)

EER IS B

R-E-—=—F+=-—A=+—H 4A&H
B 2R B A i 51 7 18 B9 18 4925,248,000/8
gL (= Z = — 4 : 25,265,000/ 7T ) A 4
HEH R PR FE R T A1l o R B R ET R IE
BETERALE EEPEEENT
A [E518#4920,022,000/8 70 ( =T —— 4 :
20,039,000/ 7T ) Br AN - H S 1E 7L A E
HA N 0] 3K 88 R SR PEER BRI A1) o FR R oK A
TERI AR 2R E R - B b N A R A TE B 1R
RIELERBEE -

BERKER

REBAMBEERBBRERELE 1
dwHlE N EeFE ([BEEEE]) -
B EERASECEES A I
NZAANER2ESRE - A5EEA
M%7 & &1 8l 1 2 B B H& p A5%HK)
e ERR A1,50008 5 (DT = —
1,500/ 7)) + B AR - (R ERfE S UTHD o
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32. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

33

(Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in The PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of approximately
HK$95,000 (2021: HK$203,000) represents contributions paid
and payable to these schemes by the Group at rates specified
in the rules of the relevant schemes. As at 31 December 2022,
contributions of approximately HK$34,000 (2021: HK$104,000)
due in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 had not
been paid to these Schemes.

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group had
no forfeited contribution available to reduce its contributions to
the retirement benefit schemes in future years.

SHARE CAPITAL

2. EEENKERN =

AEBETEMBARZIEES2ERBEK
FigEzBRE R RIKENGE - &
LY 8 N R ZA [A) % AR AR AR A AT BUVE S Fr
ERAZETEDLOHRK SEBRE
FMIRHE D - NEE Y MR KR T F 8
ZME—BERIEHREMR -

MR8 R 2 M X 48 %5 4795,000/%8 7T
(ZZT = —4£:203,000& 7T) BN EEH
LHBE ZRBETAZ L RE [
FEMZEFE 2 HA- R
+-_A=+—H mEz_Z=_-_—
+-A=+—BIFERMZHEZRY
34,0007 ( ZE=—4 : 104,000/ 7T)
WA TS Al

RZE-——F+-_A=+—HEK=Z
——F+_A=t+—H AEETED
R AR BB E R R REF AR
RAEFETEIEH ALK -

33. &

Par value Number of shares Nominal value
per share RAHUE EE
Bk 2022 2021
HE —2-= —E-—F
HK$ HK$’000 HK$'000
BT TERT FHL
Authorised: EE:
At beginning of the year REA] 0.05 10,000,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Shares consolidation (Note) ~ R&{p &4 (Ki&E) N/AREA  (9,000,000) - = -
At the end of the year RER 0.5 1,000,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITRAR:
At beginning of the year REH] 0.05 4,269,911 4,269,911 213,496 213,496
Shares consolidation (Note) A& &4 (Ki&E) NATRER  (3,842,920) - = -
At the end of the year RER 0.5 426,991 4,269,911 213,496 213,496
Note: B 5

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed in the extraordinary general
meeting held on 24 January 2022, the Company proceed with the share
consolidation, whereby every ten shares of the Company’s issued and
unissued shares with par value of HK$0.05 each in the share capital
of the Company have been consolidated into one share with par value
of HK$0.5 (the “Consolidation Share”). The share consolidation had
become effective on 26 January 2022. The Consolidated Shares rank
pari passu in all respects with each other.

All new shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.
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. KRB FEMB L AFERE

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the

Company as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out below:

N
R
N

B

NRFHIBHIINT -

T _FR_F
+—B ARBEELEEEEZK

——%+ZAH

7,
Particulars of issued
Names of Place of and paid up capital/ Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
subsidiaries incorporation registered capital held by the Company held by the Company Principal activities
BRTREMRE/
il PEES B ARBAHE ARARENERRLA FRARENRRELH E:33
2022 2022
—B-CE —B-CE
DI VG Directly  Indirectly [VICHITMNGIEWAUM  Diectly  Indirectly
& B Bk B =23 3 B i3
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands Registered: US850,000 100% - 100% - 100% - 100% - Investment holding
(ine "BVI") Unpaid: US$49,999
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited RERAES i 50,000% 7T RERR
(RERxEE]) K 49909% T
Honesty Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% - 100% - 100% - Investment holding
FERBERAR 3 AT KRR
Honesty Treasure Limited Hong Kong HKS2 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%  Provision of management services
FEARERAR &k %7 RUEERE
Success Take Limited The BVI USst 100% = 100% - 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Sucoess Take Limited HBRUEE %7 KRR
City Vision Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BEREERAA B AT KRR
Ampleline Holdings Limited The BVI US$1 100% - 100% - 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Ampleline Holdings Limited ABRAHS o KRR
Sun On Chung King (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HERR(FE)ERAR &k AT KRR
Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited* (note (7)) The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 90% - 90% - 90% - 90%  Natural gas construction projects
FRARMEERAR (W) G AZH10,0000007C RARERE
Xinan Shengjie Gas Company Limited* (note (if) The PRC Registered: RMB30,000,000 - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100%  Natural gas construction projects
Unpaid: RMB24,000,000
HREBRRERAR (M) hE i : AR300000007T AAREFER
REARH24,000000T
Keen Gate Developments Limited The BVI USst 100% = 100% - 100% = 100% - Investment holding
RERRERAA ABRUEE %7 RERR
Nanjing Taiye Metal Material Technology The PRC RMB40,000,000 = 100% - 100% = 100% - 100%  Trading of construction materials
Company Limited" (Formerly known as
Nanjing Taihe Natural Gas Accessory
Engineering Company Limited) (note (1))
ERREEBIHBRERLR (HIRAREA hE AR40,0000007 E#ITHES
RARRETRERAR) (Mik()
Gangning Investment Company Limited" (note (7)) The PRC RMB185,000,000 - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EERABRAR (H() HE AR 185,000,007 REER
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited The PRC RB109,984,948 - 51% - 51% - 67% - 67%  Property investment
(“Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics")* (note (i)
REEEMRERAR ([R2EENR)) HE ARE109984,9487 VESE
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan* (note (i) The PRC RMB4,886,027 - 60% - 60% - 60% - 60%  Property investment
REENR (M) HE ARE4,886,0077 NERE
* For identification purposes only * EHRAE
FEERREFRAA

ZE_CFER

191



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F -~ + - A=+—HI FE&E

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL U ARNFETEWBRAFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continved)

Notes:

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly owned foreign
enterprise.

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive

(%)
GEE
() BEFEHEEEMANEBECE-

(i) REBEPEREREMARNERE-

ERIHEZTRRIBFEARAKEXE
FEENARARAMNBLRR -EERAE
RHUEMHBARNFEEEHRES
RITEK -

length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the RER BB AR BITEMAESE
end of the year. I

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other RIREER AR R EAMKE QR A
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of SEMEELTER -ZEMEBE R
these subsidiaries operate in the PRC, Hong Kong and the BVI. SHERE BENABRZHFSES:
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as HEZZEBHmT

follows:

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries

FEXEK FTEEXMBE MEAREE
2021
—E-—F
Investment holdings The PRC 6 7
REER a3
Hong Kong 1 1
HE
The BVI 1 1
RERLES
8 9

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL . AATEEMNB A AIFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continuea) (%)

DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED HHEAXFZERIEREZ

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAS MATERIAL NON- HIFE 2 Z [ /8 22 A 15

CONTROLLING INTEREST

The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries TRINTHBERIFZERBRRERAA

of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: EEIFZEWBRATNFFSE:

Place of Proportion of ownership
Names of incorporation and interest and voting power Loss allocated to Accumulated
subsidiaries place of business held by the Company non-controlling interest non-controlling interest
TR B 3L i B R ARRBAEN
HEARERE B BEERRERELA IREFERBRREZNEER Rt FERRRESR
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F —E_C —FT-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET TET TR

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics The PRC 51% 51% (1,195) (13,439) (32,212) (29,570)

REBZENR H

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan The PRC 60% 60% (462) (51,487) (31,086) (32,626)

REENR H

Individually immaterial

subsidiaries with

non-controlling interest (17) (7) 892 773
ABERRRER 2

ERIFEERMB AR

(1,674) (64,933) (62,406) (61,423)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's ERAASEHEEREERBRRER D

subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out MEARNM B ERBEER N T LA

below. The summarised financial information below represents THBELSZESEAKE A FME
amounts before intragroup eliminations. BIH) & &E -

FERERZRERRAFH
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continved)

DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAS MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued)

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

. KRB EEMMB L TFHE

(%)

HEEEAFEZERRRER
HY I 2 B W E 22 "I HY 5 15
(#)

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

Non-controlling interests of
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

Revenue
Expenses

Loss attributable to owners of Tianjin
Jun Hua Logistics

Loss attributable to non-controlling interest of
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income attributable to
owners of Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics
Other comprehensive income attributable

to non-controlling interests of Tianjin Jun Hua

Logistics

Other comprehensive expenses (income)
for the year

Total comprehensive expenses attributable
to owners of Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

Total comprehensive expenses attributable
to the non-controlling interest of
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

Total comprehensive expenses for the year

Dividend paid to non-controlling interest of
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Net cash inflow from investing activities

Net cash inflow

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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KZBEBEYR
2022 2021
—=E_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
MENEE 3,379 2,826
ERBEE 24,875 29,906
mEEE (93,993) (93,078)
EmEBAE _ _

KEBEYRIER AEML

= (33,527) (30,776)

REBEYRIEE R R

= (32,212) (29,570)
& 2,726 2,368
f (5,165) (29,794)
KEBEYRIER AEML

B8 (1,244) (13,987)

/$f&\$ //|L3H HXHX%

R ELEE (1,195) (13,439)
FREIE (2,439) (27,426)
REEBEYRES ANEG

H b 2w Uk S (1,507) 510

ifﬁ%ﬁ%.dﬁ Hxﬂx$

R EOEAEERES

(1,447) 489
FREMEEMAY (W)

(2,954) 999
KEBEYRIER AEML

FEHALEE (2,751) (13,477)

if&%ﬂ@m#? % B 2R

BnEOEERAT R

(2,642) (12,950)
FAEEALEE (5,393) (26,427)
EH%%&%%.JH 1%

A% SR RE 2R - —
LESEB SRS RAFERE 477 840
KREFREMBRERAFE 5 3
REMAFEE 482 843




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continved) (&)

DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAS MATERIAL NON-

. KRB FEMB L AFERE

HEEEAFERRRER
HIFEZER B LRI GF 15

CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued) (%)
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan KEBEDR
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ER FHET
Current assets MENE E 6,743 7,318
Non-current assets EMEBEE - -
Current liabilities ioER=Ri (84,458) (88,883)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - -
Equity attributable to owners of REETRER AEIS
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan M (46,629) (48,939)
Non-controlling interests of RAEENRIEE IR AR R
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan M (31,086) (32,626)
Revenue Yz - -
Expenses (53 (1,154) (128,718)
Loss attributable to owners of Tianjin KEEDREEB NS
Hui Li Yuan B8 (692) (77,231)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests RAEENRIEE IR AR R
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan B EGEE (462) (51,487)
Loss for the year FAERE (1,154) (128,718)
Other comprehensive income attributable to REETRER AEIS
owners of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Hih 2w 3,002 807
Other comprehensive income attributable to RAEETNRIEZER IR
non-controlling interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan B EGEMAEE RS 2,002 538
Other comprehensive income for the year FAEMEE R E 5,004 1,345
Total comprehensive income (expenses) RAEENRHEE NES
attributable to owners of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan 2HEWA (FX)#E8E 2,310 (76,424)
Total comprehensive income (expenses) RAEENRIEE IR AR R
attributable to the non-controlling interest EEAEEBA ()
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan 1B 1,540 (50,949)
Total comprehensive income (expenses) FAZAENRE (FAX) B
for the year 3,850 (127,373)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest of B REE RIEZER
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan IR IR B - —
Net cash inflow from operating activities WETEBFTBIR SR AFRE 9) 2
Net cash inflow ReEmAFRE 9) 2
FERERZRERRAFH
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  35. &2 8] 2 B %k 3t &= I fe
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY ]

[A] STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION [A] K2 5] 2 B ik 7

OF THE COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT

NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZKE 16,180 16,180
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Cash and cash equivalents RERBESEEY 13 8
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEEE
Other payables H {th & < Fh 18 290,832 214,193
Amounts due to subsidiaries JET N B A R 5 857 857
Interest-bearing borrowing TEEE 115,000 115,000

406,689 330,050
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEETE (406,676) (330,042)
NET LIABILITIES BEBE (390,496) (313,862)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R AR &
Share capital A& A< 213,496 213,496
Reserves fE# (603,992) (527,358)
TOTAL DEFICIT B4t (390,496) (313,862)

KRR ZHBHRRARA T =N
F—HARAHEEST U EREE

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 5 January 2024 and are signed on its behalf HEg TR TIWATREEEGE
by: 2.
LuYi Ye De Chao
& 17 ¥(ER
Director Director
2F o
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  35. &2 8] .2 B %R 3t = I fe

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

& »)

(Continued)
[B) MOVEMENTS OF THE RESERVES OF THE (B)] KL\ At 2%
COMPANY
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BRE EXBEEFHE Rt EE aH
(Note)
(P3E)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET THET
At 1 January 2021 nZZE-_—F—HF—H 756,049 69 (363,470) 392,648
Loss for the year FREE - - (920,006) (920,006)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE2-_—F+=-RA=+—H 756,049 69 (1,283,476) (527,358)
Loss for the year FREE - - (76,634) (76,634)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—%#+=-A=+-H 756,049 69  (1,360,110)  (603,992)

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
represent the share premium and accumulated losses.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, share
premium of the Company is available for the Company’s
distributions to shareholders subject to the provisions of
the Company’s Memorandum or Articles of Associations
and provided that immediately following the distribution
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2022, the
aggregate value of the share premium and accumulated
losses of the Company available for distribution is
approximately HK$Nil (2021: HKS$NIil).

Note: Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
shares repurchased out of distributable profit.

RN A Z A DR EEE RO &
ERRFTER -BERESHESQF
& ARRA) 25 R E R BIERR
REHDIR HEAZARAZH
BT IR A Ak 4R B 2 &SRR -
MR EFEDIKE  AREWEFEE
NEEBEEBHIRAZEL R
TECF+ZA=+—H A#
DR ZARNBR D R E K RETE
BRENAZTEL(ZE=—F:
AT °

Bist: AR RN SRR

Brpm 2 EE-

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. HAREE

On 1 August 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity interest
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan of which principal asset is a land use
right for a parcel of land. Starting from year 2015, Tianjin Hui
Li Yuan entered into a financial guarantee contract with a PRC
trust company (the “Lender”) to provide corporate guarantee
by a pledge of certain properties to secure a loan granted
to a business partner which is an independent third party
(the “Borrower”) in the sum of approximately HK$90,248,000
(2021: HK$97,960,000) (equivalent to RMB80,000,000 (2021:
RMB80,000,000)) (the “Loan”). In order to protect the interest of
the Group against the loss which might be suffered by the Group
under the guarantee, the Borrower and the non-controlling
interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan entered into a counter indemnity
in favour of the Group pursuant to which they agreed to, among
other matters, indemnify the Group for its liabilities and loss
which may arise from the guarantee. The non-controlling interest
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan also agreed to indemnify the Group by
offering a pledge of its 40% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan
to the Group upon default in loan payments by the Borrower.
Subsequent to the end of the financial reporting period, on 30
March 2022, X ZmEHE A REPE (Tianjin Nankai District
People’s Court*) made a judgement (the “Judgement”) that
amongst other things, the Borrower shall compensate X2 %) &
EHOESERAAF (Tanjin Product Import & Export Trading
Co., Ltd.*) (“Tianjin Trading”), being a party which the Lender
has transferred its interest in the Loan to Tianjin Trading. If the
Borrower fail to compensate Tianjin Tarding, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan
shall bear the shortfall amount by the proceed from sale of the
Tianjin Properties.

Tianjin Property has been sealed by the court and has not yet
been auctioned by the court because it does not meet the
conditions for court disposal.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2022.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following material transactions
and balances with its related parties for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

(a) As detailed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, Mr. Ye, one of the Directors, is one of the
Guarantors in respect of the Return Undertaking.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021, as Forward Investment suffered operating loss and
no dividend have been declared, the Return Undertaking
was exercised. As such, a compensation income
from the Guarantors, Mr. Ye, of HK$36,000,000 (2021:
HK$36,000,000) was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

(b) The interest-bearing borrowing was secured by pledged
shares of the Company held by Mr. Ye, one of the
Directors, pledged shares of the related companies, in
which Mr. Ye is the beneficial shareholder, and personal
guaranteed by Mr. Ye.

(c) The key management of the Group comprises all Directors,
details of their remuneration are disclosed in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements. The remuneration of
the Directors is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

V. EXRBEALIRS

BAGEVEREREMT OB ES
I REEREBEZEZE_E-_—_F+=-A
=t+—HERZZE-_—%+-A=+—H
HFERNCHEEBBEATETUTER
T HRENTEH

(a) 0k A 1 7 95 % MY EE23RT i -
BEY %5 REARFENE
RAZ—

BE-_FT-_—_F+=-H=+—8H

R —f+ZHA=+—H1
FE ARENMREEXKEE
B RT IR S - HITE B R
o Bt REERAZELEEDH
{E % A.36,000,0008 7T (=T = —
£ : 36,000,000/ 7T) R 4R & B =
MR

(b) FTEBEAEBHEEEFAHNARN
NEAIEEMRD EF2—REE
SRERBRROBEERR 22 HEA
Bt YEYELR - 3 f 5T AR E A
R

(c) AEEIZEEERREEEES"
BEFEZHHMFBERERE BB RE
MIFE14E - EEHMBFMER
ERBEARRETEBEETE -

AEEZREFRAA
ZE_CFER
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

Litigation Interest
liabilities payable

wARE  EMAE
HK$000  HK$000

. METBHMELENEERBZ
¥ AR

TRAVNARBERETDMEENRE
2B ERRASMIIRSEY BE
ABMEANAENRSREDSRIARE
ReRMERRNGARERERDBAR

BEPMELZHERE

Amount
duetoa Interest-
substantial Lease bearing
shareholder liabilities ~ borrowing Total
EBREE

RRZE HEEE FEEE st
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000

TET THT FRT T FEx FiET
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—%—A—H - 37,650 9,334 623 115,000 162,607
Financing cash flows BERERE - - (4,115) (369) - (4,484)
Loss arising from litigation ~ #FFAE£HEE 11,281 - - - - 11,281
Interest expenses FIERY 2,694 157,764 - 42 - 160,500
Exchange alignment LS 221 - - - - 221
At31December 2021 and ~ RZTEZ—F+ZA=+—8
1 January 2022 K-E-—%—-HF—H 14,196 195,414 5219 296 115,000 330,125
Financing cash flows BERSNE - - (1,292) (387) - (1,679)
New lease entered FAEEEE) - - - 602 - 602
Interest expenses FIEBRX 538 75,883 - 21 - 76,442
Exchange alignment EHAE (1,134) - - - - (1,134)
At 31 December 2022 R-E--%+-A=1+-H 13,600 271,297 3,927 532 115,000 404,356
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —F ——F+ - A=+—HI FE

39. PLEDGE ON ASSETS

40.

41

A loan granted to an independent third party, as detailed in Note
18, had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s assets and
the carrying amounts of the respective assets are as follows:

39.

Construction in progress included in
property, plant and equipment

EETRE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

The Group entered into the following major non-cash investing
and/or financing activities which are not reflected in the
consolidated statements of cash flows:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
enter into the lease agreement for an office premise
located in Hong Kong. On the lease commencement,
the Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of approximately HK$602,000 and HK$602,000
respectively.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT
DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 28 December 2023, Nanjing Taiye Metal Material Technology
Company Limited*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party in relation to the disposal of its 100%
equity interest in ERBEMRIEABRAF (‘BREE") at
a consideration of RMB1,000,000. FRE{E is an investment
holding company and its wholly-owned subsidiary is Tianjin Hui
Li Yuan. The disposal has been completed on 28 December
2023.

* For identification purpose only

BASZEN: Ve E 4L

40.

41.

EERR

M1 T — 2B LE=TTNE
REAAKE 2 EERFIEER  HH
BEZEREENT:

2021

HK$'000
TAT

FEFRERS

REEFUATEERGERENER
RBHEZEFRESVER IHER
5

HE-_ZT-_—_F+=ZA=+—
AIEFE RNEBERUREED
—ERAMETLHERZE-H
ERBE AEERRATHAEEL
E #9602,0008 T K HE B EH
602,000/ T °

HRER

HE&E— /B 2 &l

R-ZEBE-_=F+—-_A=-+/ B &R
A2ENBRAMARESBMHE
RERAGEH-—BBILE=Z LUK
EAR¥1,000,000t HERMAEET
HIEARAG ([EBREE]) 100%
BT IEEHE - BREEA M
HEEZERAR E2EMNBAR AKX
EENR - BEFBEERZZEZ=F
F+TZAZFTFNAEK-

(i)

m A

HEERRERARAR
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EEMBEE

RESULTS

Revenue

Loss attributable to owners of

the Company

Dividends

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

ES

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=1T-HLEE

ARAFEB AEEER

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C —E--% ZEZTHF ZE-hE ZZ-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERx FEL FAT FET FEL
2,715 3,157 127 414 56,935 56,182
(227,735) (581,677) (278,857) (28,909) (20,088)
EEREE

At 31 December

W+=A=+-8H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
- it S F SEDERHF O —EoAF ZF)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FHET FET FET
79,836 240,184 698,047 1,029,417 1,143,536
(457,925) (382,524) (212,431) (229,306) (291,898)
(378,089) (142,340) 485,616 800,111 851,638




GROUP PROPERTIES
ESERE S

At 31 December 2022 R-—F_-—F+_-H=+—H
Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of REEERE interest
Location Intended use lease term (sgq.m.) AEBEZ#EZR
vE BERE HAFHER (FFK) (%)
Properties held for investment i3 ERE W ¥
No. 34 Di Ba Da Jie, Industrial premises for rental Medium  Approximately 51
Development Area, EMHER®EZ T H ER #911,512.07
Tianjin City,
the PRC
aE
RAET
=
55 )\ K #3457
Properties under development %% /& 4 %
East of Haining Street, Industrial premises for rental Medium  Approximately 60
and north of Haichuan Street, EHERGBZ TEWE R HA #929,012.72
Tianjin Development Zone,
Tianjin City,
the PRC
a3
RAET
REME R
BEGR )4
FEERREFRAA
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Group Properties
cJERYES

At 31 December 2022 R—ZF - —#+_-HA=+—H

Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of REEERE interest
Location Intended use lease term (sgq.m.) AEBEZ#EZR
NE BREAMAZR HAFHER (FF2K) (%)

Properties held for sale 3/ H &%

Rooms 810 and 1706 in Block 8 of Residential/Commercial Long Approximately 40
Huijinjiulong Commercial Street, premises = HA #9116.67
No. 699 Chengxin Main Road, T/ EEWE

Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanijing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

&

L&A

M

TER

MIEHE

MAE R B6995%

ETEmEE SR

81021706 %

Rooms 101 to 104 in Block 47 Residential/Commercial Long Approximately 40
and Rooms 101 to 104 in premises = HA #91,710.89
Block 48 of Hongjingya Villa, T/ TEEWE

No. 2888 Hongjing Main Road,

Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

aE

L&A

R

LE R

B

Sh R K3828885%

ShRTEE

SFATE101E104E

K E481E101 104

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
204 Annual Report 2022






	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論與分析
	企業管治報告
	董事及高級管理層
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務摘要
	集團物業
	封底



